
Legal and Democratic Services

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
Tuesday 16 March 2021 at 7.00 pm

Place: Remote Meeting

PLEASE NOTE: this will be a ‘virtual meeting’.

The link to the meeting is: https://attendee.gotowebinar.com/register/5340804477711144976
Webinar ID:851-020-779

Telephone (listen-only): 0330 221 9922, Telephone Access code:252-043-355 

The members listed below are summoned to attend the Strategy and Resources Committee 
meeting, on the day and at the time and place stated, to consider the business set out in this 
agenda.

Councillor Eber Kington (Chairman)
Councillor Clive Smitheram (Vice-
Chairman)
Councillor Arthur Abdulin
Councillor Steve Bridger
Councillor Kate Chinn

Councillor Nigel Collin
Councillor Hannah Dalton
Councillor David Gulland
Councillor Colin Keane
Councillor Barry Nash

Yours sincerely

Chief Executive

For further information, please contact Democratic Services, email: 
democraticservices@epsom-ewell.gov.uk or tel: 01372 732000

Public Document Pack

https://attendee.gotowebinar.com/register/5340804477711144976


Public information

Please note that this meeting will be a ‘virtual meeting’
This meeting will be held online and is open to the press and public to attend as an observer 
using free GoToWebinar software, or by telephone.
A link to the online address for this meeting is provided on the first page of this agenda and on 
the Council’s website. A telephone connection number is also provided on the front page of this 
agenda as a way to observe the meeting, and will relay the full audio from the meeting as an 
alternative to online connection.
Information about the terms of reference and membership of this Committee are available on 
the Council’s website. The website also provides copies of agendas, reports and minutes.
Agendas, reports and minutes for the Committee are also available on the free Modern.Gov app 
for iPad, Android and Windows devices. For further information on how to access information 
regarding this Committee, please email us at Democraticservices@epsom-ewell.gov.uk.

Exclusion of the Press and the Public 
There are no matters scheduled to be discussed at this meeting that would appear to disclose 
confidential or exempt information under the provisions Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
(Access to Information) Act 1985. Should any such matters arise during the course of 
discussion of the below items or should the Chairman agree to discuss any other such matters 
on the grounds of urgency, the Committee will wish to resolve to exclude the press and public 
by virtue of the private nature of the business to be transacted.

Questions from the Public
Questions from the public are permitted at meetings of the Committee. Any person wishing to 
ask a question at a meeting of the Committee must register to do so, as set out below. 
Up to 30 minutes will be set aside for written or oral questions from any member of the public 
who lives, works, attends an educational establishment or owns or leases land in the Borough 
on matters within the Terms of Reference of the Strategy and Resources Committee which may 
not include matters listed on a Committee Agenda.
All questions whether written or oral must consist of one question only, they cannot consist of 
multi parts or of a statement.
The question or topic may not relate to a specific planning application or decision under the 
Planning Acts, a specific application for a licence or permit of any kind, the personal affairs of an 
individual, or a matter which is exempt from disclosure or confidential under the Local 
Government Act 1972.  Questions which in the view of the Chairman are vexatious or frivolous 
will not be accepted.
To register to ask a question at a meeting of the Committee, please contact Democratic 
Services, email: democraticservices@epsom-ewell.gov.uk, telephone: 01372 732000. 
Written questions must be received by Democratic Services by noon on the tenth working day 
before the day of the meeting. For this meeting this is Noon, 2 March 2021

Registration for oral questions is open until noon on the second working day before the day of 
the meeting. For this meeting this is Noon, 12 March 2021

https://democracy.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:Democraticservices@epsom-ewell.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@epsom-ewell.gov.uk


AGENDA

1. QUESTION TIME  

To take any questions from members of the Public.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

Members are asked to declare the existence and nature of any Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests in respect of any item of business to be considered at the 
meeting.

3. LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION & COLLABORATION IN 
SURREY  (Pages 5 - 78)

To consider next steps following on from the analysis by KPMG who were 
engaged by the Leaders of the 11 Districts and Boroughs in Surrey to explore 
alternatives to a single unitary authority in Surrey.

4. EPSOM & EWELL DRAFT COVID 19 RECOVERY PLAN  (Pages 79 - 118)

To support our communities and local economy recover from the global 
pandemic, Members are asked to approve the draft Covid 19 Recovery Plan.  
To ensure that the Council can deliver the Vision, Four Year Plan and the 
Recovery Plan, there is a need to reconfigure the Council’s current operating 
model.  Members are asked to agree the priorities/ambitions which will form the 
basis for the reconfigured operating model.

5. SUBMISSION TO THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT BOUNDARY COMMISSION 
FOR ENGLAND ON COUNCIL SIZE  (To Follow)

6. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 119 - 126)

The Committee is asked to confirm as a true record the Minutes and Restricted 
Minutes of the meeting of the Strategy and Resources Committee held on 28 
January 2021 and to authorise the Chairman to sign them.



This page is intentionally left blank



Strategy and Resources Committee
16 March 2021

LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION & COLLABORATION IN 
SURREY

Head of Service: Kathryn Beldon, Chief Executive
Wards affected: (All Wards);
Urgent Decision?(yes/no) No
If yes, reason urgent decision 
required:
Appendices (attached): 1: Surrey District and Borough Councils: Local 

Government Reorganisation in Surrey
Final Report 15 January 2021 (KPMG)
2: Letter from Luke Hall MP 

Summary

To consider next steps following on from the analysis by KPMG who were engaged by 
the Leaders of the 11 Districts and Boroughs in Surrey to explore alternatives to a single 
unitary authority in Surrey. 

Recommendation (s)
The Committee is asked to:

(1) To note the Final Report’s (Appendix 1) comments on the future structure of 
Local Government in Surrey;

(2) Authorise the Chief Executive to progress further collaboration opportunities 
in the following service areas: waste, building control, IT infrastructure, 
housing, revenues and benefits, procurement, economic development and 
leisure services;

(3) Authorise the Chief Executive to explore opportunities for collaboration on 
other service areas and with other local authority partners outside the 
priority areas and partners identified in the Final Report. 

1 Reason for Recommendation

1.1 To inform future discussions about local government structures and 
greater collaboration between councils in Surrey.  

2 Background

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Strategy and Resources Committee
16 March 2021

2.1 It is the stated intention of Government to publish a White Paper and Bill 
on “Devolution and Local Recovery” following the Covid-19 pandemic. 
Although still currently delayed, it is expected to set out the Government’s 
plans for “expanding devolution, creating more elected Mayors in 
England, giving them and existing Mayors the powers they need to lead 
economic recovery and long term growth, and more unitary local 
authorities with stronger town and parish councils to deliver sustainable 
local services”, (Simon Clarke, Minister for State (Housing, Communities 
& Local Government), 9 July 2020).

2.2 Ahead of the publication of the White Paper, Surrey County Council 
(SCC) announced plans to submit a case for change to central 
government, with a preferred approach to local government reorganisation 
in the county being the establishment of a single unitary council. This 
proposal would create the largest unitary authority in England, serving 
some 1.2 million residents.

2.3 The Leaders of all the Districts and Boroughs Council wrote to the 
Secretary of State expressing concern that a single unitary authority for 
Surrey would be too large and remote to serve the local needs of 
residents effectively. It was agreed that the Districts and Boroughs would 
collectively explore additional models and options for local government in 
Surrey. KPMG was commissioned to support this work and its report is 
attached as Appendix 1.

2.4 During the course of progressing this work, it became clear that Surrey 
County Council’s proposal would not be agreed by government as part of 
the first wave of local government reorganisation plans. The White Paper 
on Devolution remains delayed.  

2.5 In addition, a letter sent by Luke Hall MP Minister for Regional Growth and 
Local Government on December 8 2020 made clear that the Government 
would consult any councils that would be affected by a proposal but did 
not submit the proposal, and that it is up to local areas to decide on 
whether they want to reform their structures and there will be no top-down 
imposition.

2.6 However it is recognised that the issue of local government reorganisation 
and the proposal to pursue a unitary case for change in Surrey will return 
to the agenda in the medium term. Should this prove to be the case, the 
analysis by KPMG provides options that do not centre on the creation of a 
single Surrey unitary authority, and offer a focus on an enhanced two-tier 
system  

Local Government Reorganisation Structure in Surrey

2.7 KPMG’s assessment of the options for local government reorganisation in 
Surrey were prepared with Epsom & Ewell’s strategic principles, agreed at 
Council at its meeting on 21 July 2020 in mind, namely:

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



Strategy and Resources Committee
16 March 2021

i. local democratic accountability;

ii. devolving decision making to the lowest level commensurate with 
effective delivery;

iii. efficient and cost effective service delivery;

iv. a local authority’s knowledge of people and place. 

2.8 Therefore the KPMG analysis incorporates proposals for new ways of 
working post-pandemic and on proposals for shared service delivery at 
District and Borough level.

2.9 Collaboration proposals range from establishing a shared strategic vision, 
to sharing assets and pooling staff resources to fully shared and 
integrated service provision. These proposals will not only help the 
Districts and Boroughs to continue to ‘put residents first’ and deliver the 
services locally that matter most to residents, but will also act as a driver 
to redefine the relationship with the County Council by delivering more 
services locally.

Opportunities for further collaboration on service delivery in Surrey

2.10 Ongoing financial and organisational challenges faced by each of the 
District and Borough councils in Surrey have been brought into sharp 
relief as a result of the impact of the pandemic. 

2.11 The focus of the work undertaken by KPMG was also to explore the 
opportunities for greater collaboration between councils in Surrey in order 
to alleviate the severe financial pressures facing councils as a result of the 
pandemic and successive funding cuts from central government. 

2.12 After assessing the current state of collaboration across Surrey, 
understanding the areas that have worked well and those that haven’t, 
identifying and refining a list of feasible opportunities for collaborative 
working informed by the view of the Surrey Leaders and Chief Executives, 
the following eight priority areas were identified for further investigation:

 new approach to waste

 sharing building control

 IT infrastructure

 shared approach to housing

 standardisation of revenues and benefits

 procurement

 economic development

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



Strategy and Resources Committee
16 March 2021

 shared leisure services

2.13 Pages 34 to 57 of the Final Report contains an ‘opportunity card’ for each 
of the identified service areas summarising the potential benefits of future 
collaboration, the current service quality, risks and challenges, examples 
of best practice and next steps.

2.14 Those Surrey Districts and Boroughs interested in taking forward this 
agenda will need to prepare a coherent programme of work to take 
forward the areas identified and progress further collaboration 
opportunities.

2.15 The eight areas identified in the Final Report for future closer collaborative 
working in Surrey, were derived through a series of workshops and by 
consensus amongst the leaders of the 11 Surrey Districts and Boroughs. 

2.16 Some areas not identified in the Final Report may also lend themselves 
more readily to greater collaboration and opportunities may exist to work 
with near neighbours, outside the County confines. Opportunities to create 
or join additional shared services will be investigated concurrently with 
preparing a work programme to pursue the eight priority areas identified in 
the Final Report. Any firm proposals, will be reported to this Committee 
accompanied by a Business Case and financial assessment.

3 Unitary Options

3.1 Surrey’s District and Boroughs are united in opposition to a single unitary 
authority but agreed to explore alternative unitary options should the 
Government require a unitary option to be put in place in Surrey.

3.2 Following assessment of the potential options, three preferred structures 
emerged as being feasible. The option identified by the consultants 
(option 3c) would see the creation of three unitary councils for the county, 
with one of those councils covering the current Boroughs of Epsom and 
Ewell, Mole Valley, Reigate and Banstead and Tandridge.  

3.3 The Consultants considered this grouping to deliver the greatest benefits 
in terms of effective service delivery, opportunities for growth, advantages 
in terms of democratic representation together with financial benefits and 
an emphasis on sustainability.

3.4 The split also reflects a geography that is already well-established and the 
platform for existing successful joint-working. It also reflects an equitable 
division of existing assets, population and challenges.  

3.5 Page 20 of the Final Report summarises the advantages and 
disadvantages of this proposed structure.

4 Risk Assessment

Legal or other duties

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



Strategy and Resources Committee
16 March 2021

4.1 Impact Assessment

4.1.1 There are no specific equality impacts associated with this report. 

4.2 Crime & Disorder

4.2.1 There are no specific Crime and Disorder considerations 
associated with this report.  

4.3 Safeguarding

4.3.1 There are no safeguarding risks considerations associated with this 
report.

4.4 Dependencies

4.4.1 There are no dependencies associated with this report.

4.5 Other

4.5.1 Greater collaboration between councils both within Surrey and our 
near neighbours could offer opportunities to deliver more resilient, 
efficient services and, ultimately, help us continue to provide high 
quality services to our residents. However, the success of these 
discussions relies on several factors, such as a shared and clear 
vision for the collaboration, support and buy-in by councillors and 
senior officers and trust between the leaderships.

4.5.2 In terms of any specific projects, we would require a fully developed 
business case, service standards, risk assessments and equality 
impact assessments to be presented to members so that an 
informed decision can be made about whether to proceed.  

5 Financial Implications

5.1 Progressing the work streams identified in this report may at some point 
require a budget to be set aside. If and when that becomes the case, a 
further report detailing any additional budgetary requirement will be 
brought back to this Committee, in accordance with the Financial 
Regulations.

5.2 Section 151 Officer’s comments: There are no specific financial 
implications arising from the contents of this report. 

5.3 Any concrete collaboration proposals that do arise will be presented with a 
business case to include the financial implications.

6 Legal Implications

6.1 The are no legal implications arising from the contents of this report.

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



Strategy and Resources Committee
16 March 2021

6.2 Monitoring Officer’s comments: none arising from the contents of this 
report. 

7 Policies, Plans & Partnerships

7.1 Council’s Key Priorities: The Council’s Four Year Plan sets five overall 
themes, reflecting the priorities for the Borough until 2040. It recognises 
the challenges, and sets out a road map of how the Council will continue 
to drive forward the work required as efficiently and effectively as 
possible.

7.2 Service Plans: The matter is not included within the current Service 
Delivery Plan.

7.3 Climate & Environmental Impact of recommendations: There are no 
specific climate and environmental recommendations associated with this 
report.

7.4 Sustainability Policy & Community Safety Implications: There are no 
specific sustainability and community safety implications associated with 
this report.

7.5 Partnerships: The Council has worked with the District and Borough 
Councils in Surrey to take forward its agreed principles on the local 
government structure for Surrey. If the recommendation set out in this 
report, that partnership working will continue and expand into firmer 
proposals for collaboration as set out in para 2.12 of this report.

8 Background papers

8.1 The documents referred to in compiling this report are as follows:

Previous reports:

 Local Government Structure in Surrey, Strategy & Resources, 22 
September 2020

 Local Government Structure in Surrey, Council, 21 July 2020

Other papers:

 Letter from Luke Hall, MP to Councillor Hannah Dalton, 8 December 
2020 

 Local Government in England: structures, House of Commons Briefing 
Paper, Number 07104, 8 June 2020

https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN07104/SN07
104.pdf

Page 10

Agenda Item 3

https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN07104/SN07104.pdf
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN07104/SN07104.pdf


Strategy and Resources Committee
16 March 2021

 Surrey County Council’s Leader’s Statement to Council, 7 July 2020

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId
=7485&Ver=4

 Letter dated 10 July 2020 from Leader of Surrey County Council to 
Secretary of State

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s68595/Annex%201%20
correspondence%20to%20SoS%20Re.%20Public%20Service%20Ref
orm.pdf

 Report to Cabinet, Surrey County Council,” Recovery and Devolution 
White Paper: Opportunities and Benefits for Surrey”, 21 July 2020

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s68594/RECOVERY%20
AND%20DEVOLUTION%20WHITE%20PAPERCabinet%2021%20July
%202020.pdf

 Borough Insight, Issue 73, August 2020 “Putting residents first”

https://insight.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/issue-73-august-2020/the-
news/putting-residents-first

Page 11

Agenda Item 3

https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=7485&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=7485&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s68595/Annex%201%20correspondence%20to%20SoS%20Re.%20Public%20Service%20Reform.pdf
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s68595/Annex%201%20correspondence%20to%20SoS%20Re.%20Public%20Service%20Reform.pdf
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s68595/Annex%201%20correspondence%20to%20SoS%20Re.%20Public%20Service%20Reform.pdf
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s68594/RECOVERY%20AND%20DEVOLUTION%20WHITE%20PAPERCabinet%2021%20July%202020.pdf
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s68594/RECOVERY%20AND%20DEVOLUTION%20WHITE%20PAPERCabinet%2021%20July%202020.pdf
https://mycouncil.surreycc.gov.uk/documents/s68594/RECOVERY%20AND%20DEVOLUTION%20WHITE%20PAPERCabinet%2021%20July%202020.pdf
https://insight.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/issue-73-august-2020/the-news/putting-residents-first
https://insight.epsom-ewell.gov.uk/issue-73-august-2020/the-news/putting-residents-first


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Surrey District 
and Borough 
Councils
Local Government Reorganisation 

and Collaboration

December 2020

Final Draft

Embargoed - not for wider circulation 

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



2

Surrey District and Borough Councils

Contents
Contents 2

Executive Summary 3 – 9

Background, Scope and Approach 10 – 12 

Local Government Reorganisation – Options Analysis 13 – 23

Collaboration Opportunities 24 – 58 

Next Steps 59 – 63

P
age 14

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



Executive 
Summary

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



4

Draft for discussion only

Context
The District and Borough Councils of Surrey jointly identified the need to explore potential options for Local Government 

Reorganisation within the County, whilst assessing future opportunities for collaboration within existing structures.

Questions: What could Surrey District and Borough Councils do in order to be best 

placed for future potential Local Government Reorganisation? How will financial and 

organisational resilience be improved through collaboration?

▪ Councils are operating in a complex economic, political and policy landscape, with devolution and Local 

Government Reorganisation proposals being prepared throughout the country.

▪ The District and Borough Councils were united in their opposition of one single unitary for Surrey.

▪ National attention remains focussed on the impact of Covid-19, Brexit and climate change.

▪ Councils have ongoing challenges with the ‘levelling up’ agenda, health and social care integration, ongoing 

financial pressures and the need to deliver greater digitisation.

▪ Surrey are also facing a number of cross-cutting challenges, including an aging population, areas of economic 

decline, congestion, affordable housing, health inequalities and increasing demand for services.

▪ Councils must deliver quality service improvements for their local communities.

Situation

Changing

Context

• Early in 2020, the County Council, independent of the District and Borough Councils, indicated it’s desire to 

explore options for Local Government Reorganisation within Surrey. The County Council expressed that a single 

unitary within Surrey was their preferred option.

▪ Central Government indicated that the Surrey proposals would not be agreed in the first wave of reorganisation.

▪ It was agreed that greater collaboration between the Councils would support the case further and help to 

alleviate financial pressures.

▪ There remain ongoing challenges of financial sustainability and a desire to further improve outcomes for 

residents, the District and Borough Councils feel that collaboration will support them to address these 

challenges

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 16

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



5

Draft for discussion only

Why assess LGR options and collaboration? 
A number of issues are driving the need for an assessment of LGR options and opportunities.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Why assess Local Government Reorganisation options?

Surrey County Council signalled their intent to submit a Case for Change 

to Central Government, presenting their preferred option for Local 

Government Reorganisation (LGR) as a single Surrey unitary. As a result, 

the District and Borough Councils commenced discussions with MHCLG to 

understand their position in relation to the outline assessment of potential 

options. It was anticipated that in time, the County would be invited to 

submit their own proposal for LGR within Surrey, and the District and 

Borough Councils wanted to understand potential routes forward. 

Following a number of changes, including the delay of the anticipated 

Devolution White Paper from Central Government and letters of invitation 

in October to three Counties for LGR, there has been ongoing uncertainty 

around the timescales for LGR. Central Government have indicated that 

any proposals for Reorganisation would require broad agreement across 

Local Government and communities.

Although the White Paper has been delayed, it is still expected that Local 

Government Reorganisation and unitary authorities will be back on the 

table in the medium-term in Surrey.

The eleven Surrey District and Borough Councils were mindful of the 

potential democratic deficit residents might experience as a result of the 

reduction in number of representatives in a single County unitary solution.  

They, also, recognise the potential loss of ‘place’ and ‘belonging’ for local 

residents in such a model.  They wished, therefore, to be ready to progress 

an alternative proposal if / when the time comes.

Why collaborate across the Surrey District and Borough Councils?

Collaboration between the District and Borough Councils will help to 

enable the delivery of better outcomes for residents. At the highest level, 

this would be through sharing knowledge, intelligence and best practice.

There is also a strong precedent from other examples of collaboration 

between local authorities in the UK that it can deliver financial savings 

where appropriate through greater economies of scale, reducing 

duplication and finding more efficient ways of working.

The District and Borough Councils in Surrey vary in size. The organisations 

have explored whether collaboration would provide greater resilience 

through enabling a larger pool of joint resources and expertise and an 

ability to respond to external events more quickly.

Further, collaboration can be a driver to redefine the relationship with the 

County Council by delivering more services locally where appropriate and 

through establishing more equal partnership working.

Finally, collaboration can be used as a tool to prepare for potential 

reorganisation. This can be achieved by focusing some collaboration in 

clusters based on potential unitary footprints, reducing future 

reorganisation complexity and demonstrating the benefits and potential of 

local partnership working. Should there be a requirement to submit a Case 

for Change in future, the District and Borough Councils have explored the 

options and the implications of those.

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



6

Draft for discussion only

What could the District and Borough Councils do next?
What could Surrey District and Borough Councils do in order to be best placed for future potential Local Government 

Reorganisation? How will financial and organisational resilience be improved through collaboration?

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

What could Surrey District and Borough Councils do in order to be 

best placed for future potential Local Government Reorganisation?

Following the assessment of feasible options for LGR within Surrey, 

created in line assessment criteria co-created with the District and 

Borough Councils, councils could explore the prioritised list of feasible 

options further. The highest scoring option, 3C, could be examined 

alongside at least two other options in order to assess Council and public 

appetite for reorganisation and suitable form within Surrey.

Further details set out on page 7.

What could Surrey District and Borough Councils do in order to 

increase financial and organisational resilience through 

collaboration?

The Councils could develop a coherent programme of work in order to 

prioritise and progress eight priority collaboration opportunities, which 

cover a range of service areas and were identified through joint working 

between the District and Borough Councils. This will enable the Councils to 

foster closer working relationships across a range of service delivery 

footprints, improve resilience, and deliver savings.

Further details set out on page 8.

What could Surrey District and Borough Councils do next?

To build on the foundation of exploring options together, it is 

recommended that ongoing progress is made against both the assessment 

of potential options for LGR and delivery of identified collaboration 

opportunities between the Councils.

Council and public engagement on LGR, alongside further deep dives into 

services potentially impacted by reorganisation (e.g. Waste and Children’s 

services), will provide the Councils with an additional layer of preparation 

for future reorganisation challenges.

Collaboration opportunities could be assigned to delivery owners, being 

taken forwards by project officers who will ultimately be accountable to all 

the Councils for the delivery of collaboration across Surrey. The eight 

identified opportunities have a number of potential strategic and tactical 

next steps, which could be explored to deliver quick wins to prove the 

concepts of collaboration, as well as gain executive and political buy-in.

Successful collaboration will be dependent on the right conditions, 

including trust between parties. It can be agnostic of form.

2b – Two 

unitary 

alternative

3c – Highest 

scoring option

3b – Distinct 

alternative

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



7

Draft for discussion only

Local government reorganisation

• An agreed list of selection criteria has been weighted in 

order to deliver an options assessment of feasible 

permutations for reorganisation in Surrey.

There are a number of potential feasible options for LGR in Surrey, with a number of potential unitary options that have 

been explored. This outlines the approach to considering and selecting LGR options.

• The options assessment resulted in a highest scoring 

option, and a number of high scoring alternatives. These 

were reviewed within a workshop to assess the strengths 

and challenges of each option.

• This resulted in three selected options:

▪ 3c – Highest scoring option.

▪ 2b – Two unitary alternative.

▪ 3b – Distinct alternative.

• There are a number of questions which require further 

consideration and next steps to address over the coming 

months.

Evaluation categories

Service delivery Democratic Representation

Growth Financial benefits and sustainability

2b – Two 

unitary 

alternative

3c – Highest 

scoring option

3b – Distinct 

alternative

Page 14-17

Page 18-19

Page 20-22

Page 23

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



8

Draft for discussion only

Collaboration

• Collaboration was explored with the Councils to better 

understand the potential feasibility of work within Surrey 

and the need to collaborate.

Councils should develop a coherent programme in order to progress the eight key collaboration opportunities, foster 

closer working relationships, improve resilience, and deliver savings.

• The current footprint of collaboration across Surrey was 

assessed to understand current relationships. Joint 

working themes were developed into a set of Design 

Principles for collaboration within Surrey.

• Collaboration opportunities were identified through a 

selection processes that involved both workshop 

engagement, surveys, and direction from Chief 

Executives and Leaders to identify eight priority areas for 

collaboration. This is not an exhaustive list, and would be 

subject to developing business cases:

• There are series of next steps and requirements in order to 

deliver collaboration and continue this work.

Page 25-28

Page 29-31

Page 32-57
Page 58

• New approach to Waste

• Sharing Building Control

• IT infrastructure

• Shared approach to 

Housing

• Standardisation of Revenue & 

Benefits

• Procurement

• Economic Development

• Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



9

Draft for discussion only

Conclusions and next steps

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

It is recommended that momentum is maintained across both strands of work, focussing on driving forward the delivery 

of collaboration opportunities, whilst continuing to explore LGR options to prepare for future changes.

What could Surrey District and Borough Councils do next?

It is recommended that ongoing progress is made against both the 

assessment of potential options for LGR and delivery of identified 

collaboration opportunities between the Councils.

Council and public engagement on LGR, alongside further deep dives in to 

the elements of service provision that are currently delivered by the 

County Council (for example, Children’s Services), will provide the 

Councils with an additional layer of preparation for future reorganisation 

opportunities. Work that is completed now to help align the efforts of the 

Councils will be influential and beneficial for any future potential LGR, 

regardless of outcome. We understand that potential changes as a result of 

LGR have been delayed, and will likely return in the future.

Collaboration as a basis for working will help improve the resilience of the 

District and Borough Councils, as resilience continues to become an ever 

increasing pressure for the Councils across the Country. All councils have 

agreed to respond to the scale of this challenge, and this should be used to 

make significant progress in this area.

Progressing opportunities

A series of detailed next steps for each of LGR and collaboration are 

detailed on pages 60-63, however, they should not be viewed in isolation. 

Collaboration on a footprint aligned to potential future structures would 

facilitate accelerated progress with fewer parties involved. It can also help 

to align activities and strengthen a potential future case for LGR as 

arrangements would be aligned on a proposed footprint.

Collaboration opportunities could be assigned to delivery owners, being 

taken forwards by project officers (capitalising on the existing forum that 

has been set up). They would be responsible for progressing a programme 

of collaboration across Surrey, with senior political and managerial 

oversight by Leaders and Chief Executives. The eight identified 

opportunities have identified next steps. Some of these elements would 

deliver quick wins to prove the concept of collaboration, as well as gain 

public and political buy-in. Other elements are, by their nature, longer term 

and strategic but will create significant impact.

There is no assumption that one form of collaboration is right for Surrey, 

this may be specific to opportunity, and the right delivery model may not 

need to be agreed at the outset to secure gains. Successful collaboration 

will be dependent on the right conditions, including trust between parties. 

Conclusion

It is recommended that momentum is maintained across both strands of 

work in the short term, with a focus on driving forward collaboration 

opportunities whilst maintaining awareness and foresight in relation to any 

future LGR. Some collaboration opportunities can be delivered in a short 

timescale, to demonstrate effective collaboration within Surrey, and others 

may need to be delivered over a longer timescale due to infrastructure and 

operating structures. The scale of challenge from Central Government, 

both financially and in relation to potential structural changes, is significant, 

however the District and Borough Councils should remain ambitious and 

continue the good work they are completing in response to this challenge.

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



Background, 
scope and 
approach

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



11

Draft for discussion only

Purpose of this report

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

This document forms a summary of the analysis that the Surrey District and Borough Councils have completed to 

explore the feasible options for LGR. This report also contains an assessment of feasible options to foster greater 

collaboration between the Councils.

This document has been 

prepared through 

collaboration with the 

eleven District and 

Borough Councils across 

Surrey. Significant 

engagement with senior 

stakeholders across the 

Councils has been 

undertaken.

The objectives of this 

report are to:

• Assess feasible options 

for LGR within Surrey, 

and propose options for 

further investigation.

• Identify opportunities 

for collaboration, and 

outline key next steps.

This report is structured in to three key sections, reflecting the order in which the work 

was undertaken:

1
LGR – Options 

Analysis
(Pages 13-23)

2
Collaboration 

Opportunities
(Pages 24-58)

3
Next Steps
(Pages 59-63)

Analysis of potential options for 

LGR, including: outlining the 

approach to assessment, long and 

short lists of options, recommended 

options and next steps.

Assessment of potential options 

for collaboration in Surrey,

including: principles for 

collaboration, priority opportunities 

including detail, and proposed 

tactical and strategic next steps.

A proposed approach to further 

explore LGR and collaboration in 

Surrey.

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



12

Draft for discussion only

Project approach

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Developing this document has included a balance of independent analysis and stakeholder engagement with senior 

stakeholders from across the eleven District and Borough Councils of Surrey. The following approach was used to 

develop the options for  LGR and opportunities for collaboration:

Desktop research and baselining

Stakeholder engagement

Development of Design Principles

Options analysis and evaluation

Development of collaboration opportunities

Finalising the report

1 2 3
Workshop 1: Evaluation Criteria 
and Design Principles

Workshop 2: Options Evaluation 
and Collaboration Opportunities

Workshop 3: Opportunity Next 
Steps

Desktop research and baselining

Work has been underpinned by desktop research and analysis. 

This has been informed by publicly available data, alongside 

additional information requested from District and Borough 

Councils.

Options analysis and evaluation for LGR

A longlist of options were identified and assessed using 

qualitative and quantitative criteria agreed during Workshop 1. 

These options were then scored, down-selected and presented 

back as part of Workshop 2 to gather input and challenge to the 

appraisal. One option, ‘3C’, was the highest scoring option from 

this analysis, however, there was a desire to explore alternatives 

to this model during consultation with the Councils and Citizens.

Development of Design Principles

In order to facilitate and direct efforts around collaboration, a 

series of Design Principles for collaboration were co-created as 

part of Workshop 1. These were used to guide future 

opportunity work.

Development of collaboration opportunities

Opportunities were explored in Workshops 2 and 3, to identify 

opportunities, explore the current state of activities, and outline 

potential tactical and strategic next steps. As part of this work, a 

number of stakeholders were engaged and opportunity cards 

were created for each of the eight prioritised opportunities.

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



Local 
Government 
Reorganisation 
- Options 
Analysis

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



14

Draft for discussion only

Local Government Reorganisation – status
This piece of work forms an initial exploration of the potential options for reorganisation within Surrey, including an initial 

evaluation of options against expected Government priorities. It is recognised that an initial prioritisation of these options 

has not been developed with consensus, and as such there is further work required to explore LGR options for Surrey.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Status of LGR options analysis

This work forms an initial exploration of the potential options for LGR within 

Surrey, from the viewpoint of the District and Borough Councils. As part of 

this work we have:

• Developed a series of personalised evaluation criteria, which not only 

align to Central Government expectations, but also weight the criteria 

based on importance to the District and Borough Councils.

• Identified and evaluated a long-list of feasible options for LGR within 

Surrey, justified by supporting analysis for the dimensions.

• Explored the pros and cons of the highest scoring models, including 

consulting Chief Executives and Leaders on the options presented.

• Defined a series of next steps required in order to produce a full Case 

for Change document.

It should be noted that we have not explored the acceptance of these 

models with the District and Borough Councils, and that we have not 

gathered consensus on a preferred model. This work has not evaluated 

‘status quo’ as a comparative option as this would not be a feasible option 

within a Case for Change document. Furthermore, some District and 

Borough Councils would be keen to continue to explore enhanced two tier 

arrangements, supported by the delivery of improved collaboration and 

cooperation.

Accelerated next steps for LGR options analysis

There is recognition that the topic of LGR has not gone away, with some 

geographies across the Country continuing to explore Cases for Change 

without formal invitations from Government. Therefore, in anticipation of a 

Whitepaper on Devolution, and the potential for a County Council Case for 

Change, there are a number of accelerated next steps that would ensure 

that the District and Borough Councils are best placed to respond to a 

request from Central Government:

• Public consultation – Public support on the proposed option for LGR 

within Surrey will be key to the selection process, and as such early 

public consultation on this topic will help align citizen, Elected Member 

and executive views.

• County functions – District and Borough Councils could consider how 

to work with County exploring how services could be controlled or 

delivered.

• Local representation – A key topic for members and citizens will 

continue to be how unitaries impact local representation. As such 

models could be explored to ensure local representation is preserved in 

any future model for unitary government within Surrey.

Detailed next steps are outlined on page 23.

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



15

Draft for discussion only

Context for Local Government Reorganisation
The Government has set a clear expectation that two-tier local authority structures are likely to be a thing of the past. 

Nationally, there has been a shift to larger unitary authorities, greater devolution, bringing additional funding 

opportunities. There are a number of factors driving the need for Surrey District and Borough councils to explore options 

for Local Government Reorganisation.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Why assess Local Government Reorganisation options?

Surrey County Council signalled their intent to submit a Case for Change 

to Central Government, presenting their preferred option for Local 

Government Reorganisation (LGR) as a single Surrey unitary. As a result, 

the District and Borough Councils commenced discussions with MHCLG to 

understand their position in relation to the outline assessment of potential 

options. It was anticipated that in time, the County would be invited to 

submit their own proposal for LGR within Surrey, and in response the 

District and Borough Councils wanted to prepare their own assessment of 

the potential routes forward. 

Following a number of changes, including the delay of the anticipated 

Devolution White Paper from Central Government and letters of invitation 

in October to three Counties for LGR, there has been ongoing uncertainty 

around the timescales for LGR. Central Government have indicated that 

any proposals for Reorganisation would require broad agreement across 

Local Government and communities.

Although the White Paper has been delayed, it is still expected that LGR 

and unitary authorities will be back on the table in the medium-term in 

Surrey.

The eleven Surrey District and Borough Councils were mindful of the 

potential democratic deficit residents might experience as a result of the 

reduction in number of representatives in a single County unitary solution.  

They, also, recognise the potential loss of ‘place’ and ‘belonging’ for local 

residents in such a model.  They wished, therefore, to be ready to progress 

an alternative proposal if / when the time comes.

What will this section explore?

This section details the work that has been completed to assess potential 

options for LGR within Surrey. As part of this work, a number of workshops 

and engagement sessions with Chief Executives and Leaders of each of 

the eleven District and Borough Councils were held in order to better 

understand the local context for LGR across Surrey.

This section will outline the assessment criteria used to evaluate potential 

options, the long and short list of options and how feasible options were 

down-selected, and conclusions from the assessment.

It should be noted that a key criteria that has not been explored as part of 

this work is ‘public engagement’. Ensuring there is sufficient public 

awareness and buy-in to any potential option for LGR will be key to the 

success of a Case for Change. As such, it is imperative that the District and 

Borough Councils explore public engagement on the options being put 

forward in this report.

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



16

Draft for discussion only

Local Government Reorganisation
There are a number of potential feasible options for LGR in Surrey, including a number of potential unitary options which 

have been explored. This outlines the approach to considering and selecting the LGR options.

Evaluation categories

Service delivery Democratic Representation

Growth Financial benefits and sustainability

2b – Two 

unitary 

alternative

3c – Highest 

scoring option

3b – Distinct 

alternative

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

• An agreed list of selection criteria has been weighted in 

order to deliver an options assessment of feasible 

permutations for reorganisation in Surrey.

• The options assessment resulted in a highest scoring 

option, and a number of high scoring alternatives. These 

were reviewed within a workshop to assess the strengths 

and challenges of each option.

• This resulted in three selected options :

▪ 3c – Highest scoring option.

▪ 2b – Two unitary alternative.

▪ 3b – Distinct alternative.

• There are a number of questions which require further 

consideration and next steps to address over the coming 

months.

Page 14-17

Page 18-19

Page 20-22

Page 23

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



17

Draft for discussion only

Evaluation criteria detail

S
e
rv

ic
e
 d

e
li

v
e
ry

Service improvement

Geography for service 

delivery

Minimal service disruption

Manageable demographics 

and demand

Partnership working

Housing development 

provision 

Capacity and resilience

Workforce

D
e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c
 

re
p

re
s
e
n

ta
ti

o
n

Effective local 

representation

Identity and functional 

economic geography

Representation within a 

Combined Authority

Outlined below are the four key evaluation criteria categories that were used to assess potential options for LGR within 

this report. The scoring has been weighted depending on the significance attributed to each evaluation criteria by the 

District and Borough Councils.

.

G
ro

w
th

Economic growth potential

Clean economic growth

Inclusive economic growth

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l 
b

e
n

e
fi

ts
 a

n
d

 s
u

s
ta

in
a
b

il
it

y

Enables a future Combined 

Authority

Long term financial 

benefits

Costs of reorganisation

Reorganisation complexity

Level of Council tax 

equalisation 

Income potential

Reserves

Organisational 

sustainability

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Why do we use evaluation criteria?

Evaluation criteria enables a more structured, objective approach to 

options appraisal. The evaluation criteria categories have been defined and 

applied based on:

• An expectation of the Central Government evaluation requirements in a 

LGR Case for Change.

• The District and Borough Councils’ priorities for reorganised local 

government.

How did we use evaluation criteria?

1. Evaluation criteria were agreed and an appropriate weighting applied 

based on the relative significance as viewed by District and Borough 

Councils.

2. The criteria have been applied to each of the options.

3. The results of the applied evaluation resulted in a ranked list of options.

Supporting each evaluation criteria, there are a number of agreed sub-

categories, tailored and individually assessed for Surrey. This has resulted 

in a set of assessment criteria that evaluate the potential options based on 

the requirements of the District and Borough Councils.

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



18

Draft for discussion only

Approach: Selecting the highest scoring option
In order to identify the most appropriate model for LGR, a long-list of options were identified that reflect the current 

geographic areas of Surrey. These options were systematically down-selected, assessed against selection principles and 

evaluation criteria, and led to a highest scoring model of LGR within Surrey.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Initial long-list

A long-list of 24 possible options for LGR was initially identified, based on 

feasible permutations of the eleven District and Borough Councils within 

Surrey, for between 1-4 unitary authorities within the County.

In order to identify the initial list, selection principles were used to bound 

the range of feasible options. At this stage the District and Borough 

Councils also put forward an alternative two tier model of local 

government, which is not explored within this assessment, but remains an 

area that some Councils wish to explore. The unitary options that were 

included on the long list were based on the following criteria, that they:

• Reflect the current geographic area of Surrey (i.e. do not involve 

authorities outside of Surrey and include all authorities within Surrey).

• Ideally include only contiguous geographic areas (i.e. no part of 

proposed authority areas can be isolated).

• Reflect combinations of existing district boundaries (i.e. does not require 

new boundaries to be drawn).

• Avoid any future unitary authorities with a population of less than 

200,000.

Note: Following communication from Central Government, no maximum 

population size was identified within criteria and potential populations will 

be based on the circumstances of an authority. However, an indicative 

aggregate population range of 300-600k has been provided.

Discounted options

Following identifying the long-list, a number of additional selection 

principles were included to narrow down the feasible options. These 

additional principles explored additional detail communicated from Central 

Government: that unitary authority population size should be over 300k and 

unitary authority footprints should be contiguous.

This resulted in 15 options forming the feasible short-list to be assessed 

using the identified evaluation criteria. Each of these options represented a 

feasible geography and scale for unitary authorities within Surrey. All 

evaluation criteria were scored on a scale of 1-5, weighted, and then a total 

score calculated. This led to a highest scoring model from the evaluation, 

and four ‘high scoring alternatives’.

Mole 

Valley

Reigate 

and 

Banstead

Epsom 

and 

Ewell

Tandridg

e

Waverley

Guildford

Elmbridge

Woking

Surrey 

Heath

Runnymede

Spelthorne

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



19

Draft for discussion only

Options assessment conclusion

b Highest Scoring Model High Scoring Alternatives

3c 3g / 3f 2b / 2a

Score 67/100 61/100 60/100 60/100 59/100

U1

Popn.

Surrey Heath, Runnymede, 

Spelthorne, Elmbridge

414k / 35%

Runnymede, Spelthorne, 

Elmbridge

326k / 27%

Woking, Runnymede, 

Spelthorne, Elmbridge

427k / 36%

Elmbridge, Mole Valley, 

Epsom & Ewell, Reigate & 

Banstead, Tandridge

655k / 55%

Spelthorne, Elmbridge, 

Mole Valley, Epsom & 

Ewell, Reigate & Banstead, 

Tandridge

555k / 46%

U2

Popn.
Waverley, Guildford, Woking

376k / 31%

Waverley, Guildford, 

Woking, Surrey Heath

465k / 39%

Waverley, Guildford, 

Surrey Heath

365k / 30%

Waverley, Guildford, 

Woking, Surrey Heath, 

Runnymede, Spelthorne

542k / 45%

Waverley, Guildford, 

Woking, Surrey Heath, 

Runnymede

641k / 54%

U3

Popn.

Mole Valley, Epsom & Ewell, 

Reigate & Banstead, Tandridge

405k, 34%

Mole Valley, Epsom & 

Ewell, Reigate & Banstead, 

Tandridge

405k / 34%

Mole Valley, Epsom & 

Ewell, Reigate & Banstead, 

Tandridge

405k / 34%

- -

2a

2b

3f

3g

3c

As a result of the options evaluation, five potential unitary models scored higher than other feasible options. Three of 

these are permutations of a three unitary model and two are permutations of a two unitary mode.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

As a result of the scoring, 

there was one highest 

scoring model which 

scored 6 points higher 

than the closest 

comparator.

Four ‘high scoring 

alternative’ models also 

scored more highly than 

the other feasible options 

which scored between 

57-47 in the evaluation.

The three unitary models 

that scored most highly 

are permutations of a 

north, east and west 

authority model.

The two unitary models 

that scored most highly 

represent an east/west 

split within Surrey.

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



20

Draft for discussion only

Option 3c – Highest scoring option
3c was identified as the highest scoring option by the options evaluation and was significantly ahead of the other options 

evaluated.  The pros and cons identified within the evaluation were reviewed by the District and Borough Councils to 

supplement the scoring of the models.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Advantages of option 3c

The proposed geography is well aligned across the three proposed 

unitaries, aligning to key transport and infrastructure routes. The housing 

development challenge within Surrey is spread evenly between the 

proposed authorities, with comparable Housing Delivery Test *scores and 

percentages of Green Belt**.

The three unitary model provides greater local representation compared to 

one and two unitary variations. Future parties of a Combined Authority are 

balanced, with population and Gross Value Added (GVA) evenly spread 

between unitaries. Further, there are minimised variations in area size and 

rural/urban populations.

The resultant split of population across the unitaries is well balanced 

across all age groups, including over 65s which will help to balance 

demand on high-cost services. Workforce and jobs in key industries is 

evenly balanced between unitaries, ensuring no single unitary is dependent 

on one industry and exposed to risks from failure.

There is an even split of growth challenges across GVA, deprivation and 

unemployment. Council Tax and Rates income potential is balanced, with 

minimised variation in Council Tax Band D rates as a comparator.

Disadvantages of option 3c

Financially there is imbalance in the split of MTFP savings / budget 

challenge (which may further increasing following Covid-19 MTFP 

refreshes). In addition there is a mixed tolerance for risk between 

constituent authority members.

Feedback on the model option 3c

Feedback on this model was generally positive, with a number of areas 

identified as key to further explore unitary proposals and strengthen the 

case for change.

There may be a need for a larger function to control services such as 

Children’s and roads, however alternative service delivery models present 

opportunities for greater localism in service delivery. A three unitary model 

may present operational resilience challenges, and financial savings may 

be challenging to deliver where services may be further disaggregated 

(e.g. 3 social care departments).

There was some concern that rural neighbours may be subsumed by 

larger, more populous regions (e.g. Mole Valley). Further to this, the 

balance of parties in an authority may need to be considered to take in to 

account ability to generate funds and explore risk tolerance.

Whilst there was agreement that this model was a feasible unitary model, 

there is a preference among some Councils to retain a two tier model.

North
Surrey Heath, Runnymede, 

Spelthorne, Elmbridge

West Woking, Guildford, Waverley

East

Mole Valley, Epsom and 

Ewell, Reigate and 

Banstead, Tandridge

3c

*Housing Delivery Test is an annual measurement of housing delivery in an area relative to the plan as defined by 

plan making authorities. **Green Belt land is defined as land for which there is a policy controlling urban growth.

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



21

Draft for discussion only

Options 3g/3f – Alternatives (3 unitary models)
In addition to the highest scoring unitary model, there were a number of high scoring alternatives which were explored, 

two of which were three unitary models. The pros and cons identified within the evaluation were reviewed by the District 

and Borough Councils to supplement the scoring of the models.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Advantages of option 3g/3f

The proposed geography is well aligned across the three proposed 

unitaries, aligning to key transport and infrastructure routes. The housing 

development challenge within Surrey is spread evenly between the 

proposed authority, with comparable Housing Delivery Test scores and 

percentages of Green Belt.

The three unitary model provides greater local representation compared to 

one and two unitary variations. Future parties of a Combined Authority are 

balanced, with population and Gross Value Added (GVA) evenly spread 

between unitaries. 

There is an even split of growth challenges across GVA and 

unemployment. 

Disadvantages of option 3g/3f

There is increased variation in population, area size, population density and 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) compared to option 3c.

Financially there is imbalance in the split of MTFP savings / budget 

challenge (which may further increasing following Covid-19 MTFP 

refreshes). In addition, there is a mixed tolerance for risk between 

constituent authority members.

Feedback on option 3g/3f

Overall options 3g/3f were viewed as similar to option 3c, however, lesser 

permutations based on more imbalance of population challenges, density 

and IMD.

There was a recognition that there could be future engagement on these 

options to take views from residents to determine which model(s) generate 

public support.

North
Runnymede, Spelthorne, 

Elmbridge

West
Surrey Heath, Woking, 

Guildford, Waverley

East

Mole Valley, Epsom and 

Ewell, Reigate and 

Banstead, Tandridge

3g

North
Woking, Runnymede, 

Spelthorne, Elmbridge

West
Surrey Heath, Guildford, 

Waverley

East

Mole Valley, Epsom and 

Ewell, Reigate and 

Banstead, Tandridge

3f

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



22

Draft for discussion only

Options 2b/2a– Alternatives (2 unitary models)
In addition to the highest scoring unitary model, there were a number of high scoring alternatives which were explored, 

two of which were two unitary models. The pros and cons identified within the evaluation were reviewed by the District 

and Borough Councils to supplement the scoring of the models.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Advantages of option 2b/2a

The resultant split of population across the unitaries is well balanced 

across all age groups, including over 65s which will help to balance 

demand on high-cost services. 

The size of the proposed unitaries are of sufficient organisation size and 

capacity to improve organisational resilience.

Future parties of a Combined Authority are balanced, with population and 

Gross Value Added (GVA) evenly spread between unitaries. Further, there 

are minimised variations in area size and rural/urban populations.

There is an even split of growth challenges across GVA, deprivation and 

unemployment. Further to this there is greater alignment of risk tolerance 

between constituent authorities.

Disadvantages of option 2b/2a

There is a challenging geography for service delivery based on both size 

and geographic shape, and limited alignment of existing service delivery 

boundaries and other bodies influencing the economy within Surrey (e.g. 

the LEP).

There is variance in the ability to meet housing development quotas as per 

the Housing Delivery Test, with one unitary falling significantly behind the 

other in delivery (70%:99%). Most importantly, there is reduced local 

representation compared to a three unitary model.

Feedback on option 2b/2a

The most significant factor for these models was the reduced local 

representation, which is viewed as key differentiator to the District and 

Borough Councils exploratory work for unitary authorities. The large 

geographic footprint will continue to be a challenge for service delivery and 

communities are unlikely to identify with these areas.

There was recognition that operations could be more resilient, deliver 

economies of scale and as such financial savings may be easier to achieve.

East

Elmbridge, Mole Valley, 

Epsom and Ewell, Reigate 

and Banstead, Tandridge

West

Waverley, Guildford, 

Woking, Surrey Heath, 

Runnymede, Spelthorne

2b

North

Spelthorne, Elmbridge, Mole 

Valley, Epsom and Ewell, 

Reigate and Banstead, 

Tandridge

West

Waverley, Guildford, 

Woking, Surrey Heath, 

Runnymede

2a

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



23

Draft for discussion only

Conclusions and next steps
Having reviewed and evaluated the potential options for LGR within Surrey, we have identified a highest scoring option for 

unitary authorities, as well as a number of next steps.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Conclusions

Option 3c scored most highly in the assessment, and is the highest scoring 

potential option for unitary government from this analysis. The high scoring 

alternative models remain feasible options, however, based on the 

feedback received this model continues to be the highest scoring option.

As part of the feedback received, there was a desire to better understand 

more distinct alternatives to the options selected, and these could be 

explored as part of public consultation. These alternative models could 

explore a different number of unitaries within Surrey, and different 

footprints across the County. As such, three models have been identified 

for further consideration should a case for change progress:

Option 2b was identified as the highest scoring two unitary model, and 

option 3b was identified as the highest scoring three unitary model which 

had three District/Borough Councils in an East authority. 

As noted earlier in this section, an alternative that has been put forward 

that may need to be considered by the District and Borough Councils is the 

option of enhanced two tier government. However, it is noted that this is 

unlikely to be accepted within a LGR Case for Change due to no 

reorganisation in structural form.

Next steps

Public consultation on the potential options would help to build 

engagement and consensus.

More detail could be considered on areas identified as part of feedback on 

the unitary models:

It is recommended that the following steps are explored:

1. Council and public consultation on potential options for LGR.

2. Further investigation of proposed options to supplement analysis on key 

areas (e.g. health and social care).

3. Engagement with the County Council, where appropriate, to consider 

options collaboratively.

4. Exploration of potential collaboration opportunities to address ongoing 

Council challenges.

Regardless of the options being explored, the District and Borough 

Councils have acknowledged the need and desire to explore collaboration 

in more detail, and this is explored in the next section.

2b – Two unitary 

alternative

3c – Highest scoring 

option

3b – Distinct 

alternative

• Health and social care integration.

• Economies of scale.

• Retention of local knowledge.

• Benefits of alternatives to the 

status quo / current state.

• County Council engagement.

• Strategic challenges for Surrey as 

a County.

• Local representation, town and 

parish Councils.

• Working with neighbouring 

authorities outside of Surrey.

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



Collaboration 
Opportunities

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



25

Draft for discussion only

Collaboration opportunities – status
With ongoing financial and organisational challenges, collaboration was identified as a route through which the Councils 

could address a number of critical factors. Collaboration not only presents the opportunity for savings and service 

improvements, but also facilitates future joint working in support of potential LGR.

Status of collaboration opportunities

This work formed an introductory investigation into collaboration between 

District and Borough Councils. As part of this assessment we have:

• Documented the current state of collaboration across Surrey, 

understanding what has worked well and what hasn’t worked well.

• Identified and refined a list of feasible opportunities for collaborative 

working, prioritising the opportunities to select eight key areas for 

further exploration and development.

• Explored each of the prioritised areas in more detail, identifying key 

next steps and implementation challenges.

• Defined facilitating next steps which will support collaboration between 

District and Borough Councils in all forms.

This work has not explored all collaboration opportunities, and has only 

identified detail for eight opportunities selected by Chief Executives and 

Leaders. Further, the detail provided does not form a business case for 

each opportunity, and work is required to turn each opportunity card into 

an appropriate business case. In addition, there may well be further 

benefit from strategic and management alignment that will deliver further 

benefit. Finally, though the main driver for collaboration is currently 

financial benefits and service improvements, collaboration presents an 

opportunity to show the maturity of District and Borough Councils in 

service delivery, and collaboration on agreed footprints aligned to a Case 

for Change could strengthen any future proposals.

Accelerated next steps for collaboration opportunities

Collaboration can be explored regardless of the context  around LGR.  As 

such, there are immediate next steps which would maintain momentum

and accelerate the delivery of benefits:

• Programme structure – Appropriate governance and an agreed 

programme should be stood up to continue work on collaboration, 

engaging key parties from all Councils on an ongoing basis.

• Opportunity Business Cases – The opportunity cards which have 

been developed should be utilised as a basis for a business case for 

each opportunity. These should be strengthened with detailed scope, 

involved parties, and financial benefits which are accepted by the 

Councils involved.

• Strategic direction – Strategic direction from Chief Executives and 

Leaders should be gathered for key collaboration opportunities. This 

should be developed through facilitated sessions with all engaged 

parties, working through potential issues to form a collective view on 

direction.

Detailed next steps are outlined on page 58.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



26

Draft for discussion only

Context for collaboration opportunities

Why collaborate across the Surrey District and Borough Councils?

Collaboration between the District and Borough Councils will help to 

enable the delivery of better outcomes for residents. At the highest level, 

this would be through sharing knowledge, intelligence and best practice.

There is also a strong precedent from other examples of collaboration 

between local authorities in the UK that it can deliver financial savings 

where appropriate through greater economies of scale, reducing 

duplication and finding more efficient ways of working.

The District and Borough Councils in Surrey vary in size. The organisations 

have explored whether collaboration would provide greater resilience 

through enabling a larger pool of joint resources and expertise and an 

ability to respond to external events more quickly.

Further, collaboration can be a driver to redefine the relationship with 

County Council by delivering more services locally where appropriate and 

through establishing more equal partnership working.

Finally, collaboration can be used as a tool to prepare for potential 

reorganisation. This can be achieved by focusing some collaboration in 

clusters based on potential unitary footprints, reducing future 

reorganisation complexity and demonstrating the benefits and potential of 

local partnership working. Should there be a requirement to submit a Case 

for Change in future, the District and Borough Councils have explored the 

options and the implications of those.

What will this section explore?

This section details the work that has been completed to assess potential 

collaboration opportunities between the District and Borough Councils 

within Surrey. As part of this work, a number of workshops and 

engagement sessions with Chief Executives and Leaders of each of the 

eleven District and Borough Councils were held to better understand 

existing working partnerships and what the District and Borough Councils 

aim to achieve through further collaboration.

This section will outline the different types of collaboration, a high-level 

assessment of current partnership arrangements, and outline the process 

of identifying potential collaboration opportunities that have been selected 

by the District and Borough Councils. Collaboration opportunities were 

identified through a selection processes that involved both workshop 

engagement, surveys, and then finally direction from Chief Executives and 

Leaders to identify eight priority areas for collaboration.

Each of these eight collaboration opportunities have then been explored in 

more detail to understand the current service delivery models, the potential 

next steps to collaboration across the identified services, and relevant 

learning from elsewhere.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

There are a range of potential benefits from collaboration, supporting the outcomes District and Borough Councils want 

to achieve in both a financial and non-financial sense, as well as aligning with future potential LGR.

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



27

Draft for discussion only

Collaboration
Councils should develop a coherent programme to prioritise and progress the 8 key collaboration opportunities, to foster 

closer working relationships, improve resilience, and deliver savings.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

• Collaboration was explored with Councils to better 

understand the potential feasibility of work within Surrey 

and the need to build on the cooperation and joint working 

.

• The current footprint of collaboration across Surrey was 

assessed to understand current relationships. Joint 

working themes were developed in to a set of Design 

Principles for collaboration within Surrey.

• Collaboration opportunities were identified through a 

selection processes that involved both workshop 

engagement, surveys, and direction from Chief 

Executives and Leaders to identify eight priority areas for 

collaboration:

• There are series of next steps and requirements to deliver 

collaboration and continue the joint work that has been 

undertaken.

• New approach to Waste.

• Sharing Building Control.

• IT infrastructure.

• Shared approach to 

Housing.

• Standardisation of Revenue & 

Benefits.

• Procurement.

• Economic Development.

• Shared Leisure Services.

Page 25-28

Page 29-31

Page 32-57

Page 58

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



28

Draft for discussion only

What do we mean by collaboration? 

What do we mean by collaboration?

The appropriate form of collaboration will be dependent upon the service, 

ambition and outcome sought by the District and Borough Councils. A 

number of potential collaboration options have been outlined on a 

progressive scale. The scale of change required to existing working will be 

reflected by the level of ambition the District and Borough Councils have in 

their desire to collaborate.

Strategic alignment involves the collaborative development of a joint 

strategy and/or policy between the District and Borough Councils which 

could lead to greater consistency in operations and/or governance. This 

can also lead to greater coordination and communication and clarify the 

capabilities of each organisation.

The next option would be the sharing of estates/assets such as the co-

location of teams and shared systems. Further, combined leadership 

teams or individual roles can lead to greater cost reductions and 

resilience and improved efficiencies. 

Further along the scale of collaboration is for a lead authority delivering 

services across multiple footprints on behalf of the other District and 

Borough Councils. If appropriate, a shared service with a separate legal 

entity delivering services to multiple authorities could be utilised.

What are the different groupings of collaboration?

Different groupings of the Surrey District and Borough Councils may be 

appropriate depending on the type of collaboration pursued. The 

groupings are outlined below.

Whole County - This is where common agreements or working practices 

exist across all District and Borough Councils (which may include changes 

to the relationship with Surrey County Council).

Clusters - This involves increased sharing or greater alignment within 

‘clusters’, which consider geographic proximity, functional economic 

geography, and potential future unitary authority footprints.

Wider Partner Collaboration - Strengthening relationships with key 

partners, including the County Council, health and care providers and the 

voluntary and community sector.

There are other alternative footprints which may develop over time, with a 

number of potential permutations. This includes a collaboration between 

the ‘best fit’ or ‘most willing’ partners between the Surrey Borough and 

Districts, as well as potential collaboration with parties outside of Surrey. 

This should be explored for each individual collaboration opportunity on a 

case-by-case basis.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

There are different types and scales of collaboration that could be appropriate and selected depending on the 

service/outcome sought.

Level of ambition / scale of change

Shared ServiceLead authority
Sharing of 

roles/teams

Sharing of 

estates/assets

Strategic 

alignment

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



29

Draft for discussion only

Elmbridge Epsom and Ewell Guildford Mole Valley

Reigate and Banstead Runnymede Spelthorne Surrey Heath

Tandridge Waverley Woking

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

County wide partnerships

There are fourteen whole County 

partnerships and collaborations which 

have been identified which include all 

eleven District and Borough Councils. 

These cover a number of key services 

including Environment, Sports, Learning 

and Housing.

Other partnerships in place

There are further existing collaborations 

that exist between two or more District 

and Borough councils. A visual 

representation of the partnerships is 

provided which highlights that most 

collaboration operates on a locality basis, 

with partnerships predominantly with 

neighbouring authorities.

Note that the depth of collaboration within 

each collaboration arrangement has not 

been explored.

District and Borough Councils

Partnerships in place with other 

Districts and Borough Councils

Fourteen partnerships and collaborations have been identified between all the District and Borough Councils and there 

are further collaborations that exist between two or more District and Borough Councils.

Existing partnerships

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



30

Draft for discussion only

Current themes of existing collaboration and future aims

What do the District and Borough Councils want to achieve from 

collaboration?

The alignment to three working clusters 

Working as three clusters would help accelerate collaboration through 

operating on a smaller footprint with fewer engaging parties. It could also 

be used to demonstrate that the clustering being proposed for unitary 

authorities can work effectively together.

The maturity of service delivery for District and Borough Councils and 

County level services

This would strengthen proposals for District and Borough Councils being 

lead councils within a Case for Change for LGR, meaning they can handle 

more complex district services.

Delivery of savings / increased income potential

The delivery of savings and increased income potential to help address 

funding challenges and savings targets.

Improved financial resilience

This would provide greater financial capacity, funds and reserves for 

councils.

Improved services and outcomes to residents

This includes improved service delivery, greater resilience and consistency 

across the organisations.

Key themes identified on current collaboration

Following discussion on the success of current collaboration between 

District and Borough Councils, a number of key themes were identified and 

have been outlined below.

Current partnerships have successfully provided access to specialist 

knowledge, increased organisational resilience, and developed a level of 

trust across the District and Borough Councils.

However, more work needs to be done to redefine the relationships 

between the District and Borough Councils, the County Council, and 

working partners to obtain the full benefits of existing collaboration.

In order for collaboration to be successful, the District and Borough 

Councils identified an initial desire to start small, accept a degree of risk, 

develop a clear set of goals and a shared ambition, and focus on the 

outcomes they want to deliver for residents. However it should be noted 

that significant progress on collaboration now could help demonstrate what 

an alternative unitary model can deliver,  support resilience, and deliver 

financial benefits. The development of full business cases will ultimately 

define the pace of collaboration, and the desired ambition.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Through joint working sessions, the District and Borough Councils collectively agreed what they wanted to achieve from 

collaboration, and explored learning from their current collaboration arrangements. By outlining what works well and 

what could improved, this helped to develop a set of key themes encapsulating the key drivers for collaboration.

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



31

Draft for discussion only

We will work in partnership to deliver better outcomes and higher quality, more efficient services for the people of Surrey. We will 

trust each other, adopting a partnership mindset which recognises our common purpose.

Vision and Design Principles

Outcomes 

focussed

We will choose to collaborate when it enables us to deliver 

our vision of higher quality and more efficient services for our 

residents. A simple, straightforward set of key performance 

indicators (KPIs) will be agreed and tracked, with a focus on 

simple communication of outcomes to the public. Our 

collaboration will deliver a return on investment, from a 

financial and non-financial perspective.

Objective and 

evidence-based

Once partnerships are established, we will make operational 

decisions based on agreed principles, data and evidence. 

Our partnerships should not be de-railed by changes of 

political administration.

Transparent 

and honest

We will be honest about our strengths and areas where we 

can improve by learning from others (within the County and 

outside). We will prioritise consistency, clarity and honesty in 

our communications with our staff.

Trust and 

partnership 

mindset 

We recognise different risk profiles of partners, and commit 

to governance and decision-making that considers what is 

best for all partners and the residents they serve. We will 

constructively and appropriately challenge in the spirit of 

partnership, and trust each other to deliver the best 

outcomes for the whole.

Data quality

We will invest time up front to ensure that all of our key 

data is consistent and high quality. We must have a full 

understanding of the baseline position and how data will 

be used from the outset.

Bold, 

ambitious and 

open to 

compromise

We will be bold and ambitious, considering opportunities 

for innovation through the joint delivery of services. We 

recognise the need to compromise where beneficial for 

all residents to be served by a partnership.

Perseverance

We will invest time and energy in our partnerships to get 

them right and to resolve issues together. When we 

encounter challenges we will continue to work 

collaboratively.

Shared 

culture and 

values

We will develop a shared culture and values across 

organisational boundaries, recognising our shared 

purpose. We will encourage our staff at all levels to work 

collaboratively to embed collaboration into our culture.

Efficiency, and 

consistency

Wherever it benefits our residents, we will adopt 

common processes, systems and ways of working to 

deliver a more efficient set of services and a more 

consistent customer experience. 

No right 

delivery 

model

We will choose the delivery model that is most 

appropriate for collaboration within each service area 

based on the outcomes required and evidence available.

We will deliver our vision through the following principles. The principles 

apply equally to all of the Districts and Borough Councils across Surrey.

1

2

4

6

7

8

9

10

5

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

3

To shape future collaboration, a vision and set of Design Principles were discussed and agreed by the District and 

Borough Councils. Design Principles have been developed to provide a framework to enable the delivery of the vision.

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



32

Draft for discussion only

Service categories for collaboration

1 https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/explainers/local-government

The following service areas are how the Institute for Government defines 

the services District and Borough Councils and County Councils provide.1

The District / Borough councils discussed and then voted on which service 

areas to focus on for developing collaboration ideas.

The top five service areas identified were: Council Tax and Business Rates; 

Building Regulations; Economic Development; Waste Collection and 

Recycling and Environmental Health. In addition to this, it was agreed that 

back office services should be explored, and this was explored in more 

detail with Project Officers.

The Chief Executives, Leaders and Project Officers of the District and 

Borough Councils were consulted further over the top five service areas. 

These were consolidated, refined and updated to produce eight priority 

focus areas.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

# Area District County

1 Arts and recreation

2 Births, deaths, and marriage registration

3 Building regulations

4 Burials and cremations

5 Children’s services

6 Community safety

7 Concessionary travel

8 Consumer protection

9 Council tax and business rates

10 Economic development

11 Education and skills

12 Elections and electoral registration

13 Emergency planning

14 Environmental health

15 Highways and roads

16 Housing

# Area District County

17 Libraries

18 Licensing

19 Markets and fairs

20 Museums and galleries

21 Parking

22 Planning

23 Public conveniences

24 Public health

25 Social care

26 Sports centres and parks

27 Street cleaning

28 Tourism

29 Trading standards

30 Transport

31 Waste collection and recycling

32 Waste disposal

A list of service areas for potential collaboration were presented to the District and Borough Councils during one of the 

workshops. These were voted on and five priority service areas for collaboration were subsequently identified.

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



33

Draft for discussion only

Collaboration opportunities

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial and 

Disposal

Standardisation of Revenues 

and Benefits

Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to Housing Shared Leisure Services

For each of the eight collaboration opportunities, an 

opportunity card has been created which considers the 

following:

• Scope of the opportunity.

• Current service situation and existing collaborations.

• Potential benefits and risks to the collaboration 

opportunity.

• Medium term next steps - Those that can be delivered 

within the current structural forms and can typically be 

delivered in a short period of time (e.g. less than six 

months).

• Strategic next steps - Those that may require structural 

changes, executive decisions and political support, and 

will typically take a longer time to deliver.

• Learning from other organisations who have progressed 

similar collaborations.

1 2

3 4

5 6

7 8

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Each of these eight collaboration opportunities have then been explored in more detail to understand the current service 

delivery models, the potential next steps to collaboration, and finally what reference sites there are for collaboration on 

this topic.

(Back Office)

(Back Office)

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



34

Draft for discussion only

New approach to Waste 

In the short to medium term, changes to improve existing collection services could include the optimisation of routes, standardisation of collections and harmonisation of contracts.

This would build on existing collaborations (including the Surrey Environment Partnership) and could lead to the development of a commercialised trade waste service, including 

recycling, food waste, and other trade waste, providing local businesses and organisations with a competitive and comprehensive waste offer. 

The service would be in competition with other commercial waste collection services, such as Veolia and Biffa, and provide an additional income stream to District and Borough 

Councils to reinvest in additional services, and show that the councils can deliver a commercial and reliable service. 

A review of current waste disposal can help to reduce environmental impacts and ensuring waste to energy is optimised, reducing waste sent to landfill. This could result in exploring 

a new waste to energy solution.

Potential benefits

Collections

• Consistency of approach across the districts.

• Operational efficiencies.

• Potential cost savings through contract harmonisation.

Commercialisation

• Additional income stream for the District and Borough 

Councils to deliver discretionary services, such as 

environmental projects.

• Improved reputation through delivering a competitive 

commercial service.

• Potential improved quality of commercial waste 

collections.

Disposal

• Operate a more sustainable and environmentally-

friendly alternative to sending waste to landfills.

• Avoidance of disposal costs and landfill taxes.

• Avoid methane emissions from landfills and reduction 

in carbon emitted which would contribute to achieving  

carbon reduction (many of the District and Borough 

Councils pledged to become carbon neutral by 2030 

as part of their Climate Emergency declaration).

Current situation / Service Quality

• Waste is one of the highest spend services for the 

District and Borough Councils. The Surrey Environment 

Partnership, has brought together leads from across 

the eleven District and Borough Councils to share best 

practice and ideas, and pool resources to collective 

benefit.
• Joint Waste Solutions delivers collection services for 

four Councils (Mole Valley, Elmbridge, Woking and 

Surrey Heath) in partnership with Amey.

• Overall there is a direction of travel towards greater 

standardisation, with national funding being provided 

from DEFRA to support partnership working and 

movement towards the National Waste Strategy.

• Commercial waste services provided across four 

District and Borough Councils (Reigate, Epsom, 

Guildford and Runnymede). Guildford’s commercial 

waste collection service is one of the largest in the 

country with a turnover of around £1.3m.

• As part of their partnership with Surrey County Council 

for managing waste, Suez’s eco park plant in Surrey is 

in process of testing an anaerobic digestion facility. Up 

to 40,000 tonnes a year of food waste, mainly from 

homes around Surrey and also some from businesses 

will be treated at facility with the purpose of reducing 

landfill.

Risks/Challenges

Commercialisation 

• Competition – Councils will be competing directly with 

specific waste organisations. There is a risk 

competition will be too strong from the market, with 

loss of income to a larger entity.

• Lack of demand – There may not be sufficient demand 

as businesses are already engaging with other 

providers.

• Up-front costs – There may be large up-front costs to 

develop equipment and services of sufficient scale to 

take on new commercial clients. Further, only a limited 

number of other Councils own their own waste fleet. 

Political priorities – Trade waste services may be 

seen as a lower priority for politicians and residents, 

distracting from priority resident services.

• Existing contacts – Councils have long contracts with 

third party suppliers. There may also be implications 

with commercialisation and contracts with third party 

suppliers

Disposal

• Complaints from residents –There may be a negative 

response from local residents due to the emissions 

produced from disposal and increased traffic of large 

vehicles.
.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial and 

Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



35

Draft for discussion only

New approach to Waste 

Stakeholders

Residents

• Local businesses.

District and Borough 

Councils

• Waste teams from 

engaged District/Borough 

Councils.

County Council

• Waste disposal teams.

External Bodies

• Environmental 

organisations.

• Waste competitors.

Next Steps

Strategic

Longer term actions to realise the full benefits include:

• Develop a joint strategic approach to waste (that includes the 

whole of Surrey) and agree to the aims and scope of joint 

working in order to build commitment and clarity from the outset.

• Develop a timeline for implementation of the shared service, 

potential scale of team required, impacts on staff (TUPE) etc.

• Develop Governance framework once joint working approach 

confirmed.

• Determine level of appetite from Surrey County Council for a 

joint disposal and collection authority.

• Assess the strategic steer from Government which requires an 

approach addressing challenges on both waste and the 

environment (Net Zero targets).

Medium term actions

As there are a number of existing collaborations between the 

District and Borough Councils around waste some immediate next 

steps could enhance/deepen the collaboration to be undertaken 

within the next six months:

• Agree on the Districts and Boroughs that want to pursue joint 

working in this area and commence discussions on possible 

types of collaboration.

• Assess the minimum size of collaboration required to achieve 

necessary economies of scale, and potential market size of 

commercial operations if being pursued.

• Assess the impact of the National Waste strategy on current 

operations.

• Begin planning approach to educate residents and the District 

and Borough Councils on climate issues to help minimise waste.

• Rationalise routes for waste collection rather than working purely 

on existing organisational footprint.

• Baseline current service cost for local collections, highlighting 

‘true differences’ in services at a local level.

• Begin to explore a possible joint disposal and collection contract 

across Surrey and identify what further information is required.

• Further explore disposal waste alternatives including local and 

waste to energy.

• Form a partnership approach to minimising waste, working with 

local businesses, charities and residents.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial and 

Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



36

Draft for discussion only

Learning from elsewhere

Case Study 1

Yorwaste - waste provider

Description

• A waste management company set up between 

North Yorkshire County Council and York Council.

• They employ over 250 members of the local 

community, manage over half a million tonnes of 

waste per year and carry out 550,000 trade waste 

and commercial bin collections.

• Manages all 20 household waste recycling 

centres in North Yorkshire.

Benefits

• Wide range of local in-house waste processing 

solutions. 

• Eliminate any extra costs through employing third 

parties.

• Better place to provide a personalised service.

Case Study 2

Coventry & Solihull Waste Disposal Company 

(CSWDC) 

Description

• Independent waste management company set up 

between Coventry City Council, Solihull 

Metropolitan Borough Council, Warwickshire 

County Council and Leicester County Council.

• Their main business is extracting energy from 

municipal and commercial solid waste.

• They also operate a Household Waste Recycling 

and Reuse Centre on behalf of Coventry City 

Council.

• As recycling tonnages for Coventry and Solihull 

have increased, spare capacity in the incinerator 

has been sold to Warwickshire County Council 

(now a junior shareholder), Leicestershire County 

Council, and Variety of smaller contracts with both 

public and private sector organisations. 

Benefits 

• Financial savings identified to date by Coventry 

Council is £21,000,000.

Case Study 3

East Sussex joint waste

Description 

• East Sussex County Council developed a joint 

waste strategy with East Sussex District Councils:  

Eastbourne, Hastings, Lewes, Rother and 

Wealden.

• Their aim is to improve the quality and efficiency 

of waste collection, recycling, street and beach 

cleaning services by entering into a joint contract 

with Biffa (previously kier services until mid 2019).

• The five District Councils, act as the collection 

authorities outsourcing to Biffa.

• East Sussex County Council acts as the disposal 

authority and operate an energy recovery facility 

in Newhaven and receive income from sale of 

electricity to National Grid.

Benefits

• Reduction of waste sent to landfill and reduction 

of landfill tax.

• Income stream from sale of electricity.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial and 

Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Source: Yorwaste site - Link Source: LGA shared service map table 2019 - Link Sources: 

LGA shared service map table 2019 - Link

East Sussex Joint Waste Strategy 2014-2025 - Link

East Sussex Joint Waste Management Strategy - Link

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1

https://www.yorwaste.co.uk/about/
http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/Data/Lewes%20District%20Council%20Cabinet/201407071430/Agenda/JjLSwMoJKU3C4misE2fpqhc3YNfom.pdf
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/environment/rubbishandrecycling/managingwaste/wastestrategy/


37

Draft for discussion only

Standardisation of Revenues and Benefits

Development of a joint delivery vehicle to deliver transactional services (initially Revenue Services) could provide an opportunity to standardise and improve 

effectiveness. This could initially cover standardisation of collection, customer contact routes and communications with the County Council. This approach could 

then be expanded to benefits services, as well as other transactional Council services. There is an opportunity to build on existing collaboration between the District 

and Borough Councils in this area, to accelerate the delivery of this opportunity.

Potential benefits

Residents

• Efficient, effective, and specialised services to 

residents.

• Standardised approach between District and 

Borough Councils, when moving house for 

example.

• Improved Benefits assessments and payments 

service with best practice being shared.

District and Borough Councils

• Standardised consistent service, with improved 

service delivery metrics.

• Clarity of responsibility between District and 

Borough and County services, contact points for 

customers and County, and flows of data in 

processes.

County Council

• Increased Council Tax and Business Rates receipt 

rates and as such County Council precepts.

• Standard contact routes, better relationships, and 

consistency of service with Councils.

Current situation / Service Quality

• Instances of collaboration between authorities, for 

example Reigate and Banstead delivering services 

to District and Borough Councils.

• The service delivery is not standardised across all 

the District and Borough Councils, as there are 

tailored responses to communities.

Risks

• Loss of localism – Standardised service risks 

losing locality of services, which may impact 

individual challenges being faced by residents. As 

a counter to this, scale could free up time to 

deliver localism or greater liaison services.

• Loss of control – Services will be delivered by a 

joint venture, potentially under a joint 

management committee. Responsibilities will be 

shared and will have to cater for multiple parties.

• Significant effort required to align systems – In 

order to facilitate the alignment and joint delivery 

of services, systems will have to be aligned. There 

is a risk this may stall progress.

• Potential dip in collection – Potential short term 

impacts to service delivery and collections, which 

may result in a reduction in collections.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



38

Draft for discussion only

Standardisation of Revenues and Benefits

Stakeholders
Residents

• Citizens receiving 

benefits.

• Citizens paying council 

tax.

District and Borough 

Councils

• Revenue and Benefits 

teams.

County Council

• Recipients of information 

from Revenue and 

Benefits teams.

External Bodies

• Organisations paying 

business rates.

• MHCLG.

Next Steps

Strategic

Longer term actions to realise the full benefits include:

• Pilot service deliver on business rates, with volumes being 

smaller and more reliant on a small number of specialist staff.

• Develop a joint strategic approach and agree to the aims and 

scope of joint working in order to build commitment and 

clarity from the outset.

• Develop Governance framework once joint working approach 

confirmed.

• Review IT strategy and systems of Districts and Boroughs and 

develop a roadmap for migrating systems onto one platform.

• Develop a timeline for implementation of the shared service, 

potential scale of team required, impacts on staff (TUPE) etc.

Medium term actions

As there is little existing collaborations between the District and 

Borough Councils in this area, some immediate next steps to 

expedite the commencement of joint working could be 

undertaken within the next 6 months:

• Agree on the Districts and Boroughs that want to pursue joint 

working in this area and commence discussions on possible 

types of collaboration.

• Assess baseline staffing structures to assist in deciding on 

type of collaboration considering future options.

• Review current procedures and practices in detail to identify 

areas for greater collaboration (e.g. Reigate and Banstead’s 

approach to collection which may be expanded).

• Appoint nominated officer to lead and be accountable for 

success of joint working.

• Review debt recovery policy and hardship fund for each 

District and Borough Council to develop a better 

understanding of their approaches.

• Review current contractual arrangements and delivery 

models.

• Assess legal implications – instruction process for example.

• Assess specific processes that can be standardised, or are 

already standardised, across Councils whilst retaining 

individual schemes and discretional elements.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 50

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



39

Draft for discussion only

Learning from elsewhere

Case Study 1

Hampshire shared service

Description

• Biggest public sector shared services partnership 

in the UK, Hampshire County Council are the host 

service provider to back office support and 

expertise in areas including finance, procurement, 

IT and HR to a variety of partners across Local 

Government (including other local authorities), the 

Police, schools and Fire and Rescue Services.

• Partners are the county council, Hampshire 

Constabulary, Hampshire Fire and Rescue 

Service, the Office of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner for Hampshire and Oxfordshire 

County Council (three London Boroughs are due 

to join the partnership later this year).

• Operating model is a public partnership.

Benefits 

• Cost efficiencies and savings.

• Increased resilience and capacity.

• Hampshire County Council estimates savings of 

£2.7m a year.

Case Study 2

OneSource

Description

• A shared service partnership between Newham 

and Havering London Borough Councils set up in 

2014. This brought together 22 back-office 

services and 1300 staff with the aim of 

streamlining processes and teams, and reducing 

corporate support costs in order to protect front-

line services. 

• Governed by members of a joint committee.

• Provide a range of strategic, operational and 

transactional services to both the partner councils 

and customers by helping them work more 

efficiently and reduce back office costs.

• Services include legal, transactional HR and 

business rates and council tax collection services.

Benefits 

• Reducing duplication.

• Sharing resources/skills between councils.

• Councils  estimated to achieve approximately 

£40M in savings since inception to 2019.

• Improved customer experience and operational 

efficiencies.

• Greater resilience and flexibility through standard 

systems and sharing resources.

Case Study 3

Shared Revenues Partnership

Description

• The Shared Revenues Partnership ('SRP') is 

a partnership of three councils: Babergh District 

Council; Ipswich Borough Council; and Mid-

Suffolk District.

• Operational from 2011 and governed by a joint 

committee.

• It includes the collection of council tax and 

business rates and payment of housing benefit 

and administration of local council tax reduction 

schemes.

Benefits

• Reduced costs.

• Greater resilience to change.

• Improved performance around collection rates 

and time to respond to benefit changes.

• consistent and improved customer experience, 

• Introduction of more digital and self-serve options 

for customers to use.    

• Financial savings 18/19 is £917,940.

• Financial savings to from 2011 to 2019 is 

£4,675,300.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Source: LGA shared service map table 2019 - Link

OneSource website - Link

Source: LGA shared service map table 2019 - LinkSource: LGA shared service map table 2019 - Link

Hampshire County Council website

Hampshire Shared Services Building the Partnership - Link

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1

http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
https://onesource.co.uk/about/
http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
https://www.cipfa.org/~/media/files/regions/south%20east/events/2018/public%20finance%20in%20wessex%20march%202018/080318_1_hampshire_shared_services.pdf?la=en


40

Draft for discussion only

Sharing Building Control

Development of a shared building control services accessible to residents across District and Borough boundaries. Some individuals and businesses that interact with Building 

Control services may operate across District and Borough boundaries, and due to the size of functions within individual Councils there is an opportunity to increase the critical mass 

and operational resilience of services. This could either involve up to two additional building control partnerships, taking learning from the Southern Building Control Partnership, or 

expanding the scope of this partnership to cover other areas within Surrey.

Potential benefits

Residents

• Improved quality of service that is more customer 

focused.

• Size of team ensures continuity of service.

District and Borough Councils

• Cost reductions (economies of scale, agile working and 

elimination of duplication in areas such as IT, HR and 

finance).

• Increase in capacity and capability available to each 

organisation – sharing of technical skills.

• Greater organisational resilience, and accessibility to 

limited resource available in specialist roles.

• Adoption and improved efficiency of processes and 

practices.

• Improved recruitment and retention in local authority 

building control services.

• More competitive - Increased opportunity and 

capability to compete with the private sector and win 

additional business.

• Create management arrangements that will enable 

resources to be deployed effectively.

County Council

• Consistency in the delivery of building control services.

• Standard interaction with building control departments 

with fewer stronger relationships.

Current situation / Service Quality

• Southern Building Control Partnership is a joint local 

authority building control function for Reigate and 

Banstead, Tandridge and Mole Valley. They work out of 

two council office hubs in Dorking and Oxted, Surrey.

• Runnymede provide repairs and maintenance service 

for operational properties for Spelthorne until March 

2021.

• Previously explored possible merger of Borough 

Council teams from Spelthorne, Surrey Heath, 

Guildford and Woking. There were difficulties agreeing 

alignment of charges, business approach, plus big 

difference in cost/income ratios between Councils.

• Elmbridge deliver service through the Elmbridge 

Building Control Services (building control mutual).

• There has been an ongoing reduction in the availability 

of professional staff to fulfil roles, with Councils 

struggling to appoint in to roles such as Surveyors.

Risks

• Competition – Building control services within Surrey 

compete with private sector organisations, and service 

quality or value for money will need to be secured to 

compete in the market.

• Development and training requirement - As building 

control is a statutory service and councils often advise 

on regulatory issues, staff may require training to 

develop commercial expertise.

• Loss of control - Services will be delivered outside of 

each individual Council. Responsibilities will be shared 

and will have to cater for multiple parties.

• Past discussion - Previously, some District and 

Borough Councils were unable to agree a common 

business approach whilst discussing a proposed 

merger. This could stall initial discussions without a 

new imperative or different approach.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 52

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



41

Draft for discussion only

Sharing Building Control

Stakeholders

Residents

• Customer using the 

building control service.

District and Borough 

Councils

• District and Borough 

Building control teams.

• Southern Building control 

Partnership.

County Council

• District and Borough 

Building control teams.

External Bodies

• Building control services 

operating within Surrey.

Next Steps

Strategic

Longer term actions to realise the full benefits include:

• Develop a joint strategic approach and agree to the aims and 

scope of joint working in order to build commitment and 

clarity from the outset.

• Support and drive from the top (Chief Executives and 

Leaders) needed to progress potential collaboration.

• Develop a timeline for implementation of the shared service, 

potential scale of team required, impacts on staff (TUPE) etc.

• Develop Governance framework once joint working approach 

confirmed.

• Assess how collaboration could alleviate concerns from large 

scale strategic challenges such as of the new post Grenfell 

Building Safety Bill which is likely to come into effect in 2022. 

This will place pressure on building control staffing due to new 

legal and qualification requirements.

Medium term actions

As there are existing collaborations between a number of the 

District and Borough Councils, some immediate next steps could 

enhance and extend the collaboration, to be undertaken within 

the next six months:

• Agree on the Districts and Boroughs that want to pursue joint 

working in this area and commence discussions on possible 

types of collaboration.

• Combine expertise and share resources to account for 

existing gaps e.g. engineering calculations is a scarce 

resource across the District and Borough Councils.

• Bring together officers to Discuss and outline local offering 

and expertise that differentiates District and Borough services 

from the Private Sector.

• Review the comparable salary levels, income and full staffing 

picture across the District and Borough Councils.

• Undertake market analysis to demonstrate cost effectiveness 

of any potential collaboration.

• Develop a joint recruitment plan and increase opportunities 

for trainees.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



42

Draft for discussion only

Learning from elsewhere

Case Study 1

Building Control Solutions 

Description

• Brings together the building control services of 

the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead, 

West Berkshire Council and Wokingham Borough 

Council.

• This has resulted in a single team, based in a 

single location carrying out the building control 

function across the three Local Authority areas. 

• One of the initial barriers identified was competing 

in a competitive private sector as Local 

Government building control services do not 

always have the financial resources, commercial 

skills or marketing resources to effectively 

compete.

Benefits 

• Offer a more flexible customer focused service.

• Ensure a service that is competitive with the 

private sector but retain the local presence.

• Enable the development of a full range of ancillary 

value-added services to meet the needs of 

residents and businesses, and which benefit the 

Local Authorities as new sources of (non-ring 

fenced) income.

Case Study 2

Building Control Partnership

Description 

• Hart District Council Building Control and 

Rushmoor Borough Council entered into a shared 

service arrangement through merging their 

building control teams.

• The Building Control team is now based in 

Rushmoor Borough Council offices in 

Farnborough.

Benefits 

• More cost-effective and greater resilience

• Offer a more competitive and improved customer 

service.

• Maintain a level of service to compete with the 

private sector.

• Hart District Council identified savings of £20,000 

from inception in 2015 to 2019.

Case Study 3

Devon Building Control Partnership (DBCP)

Description 

• A not-for-profit organisation set up in 2004.

• DBCP provides building control services across 

three Local Authorities -Teignbridge and South 

Hams District Councils and West Devon Borough 

Council.

• Governed by a partnership agreement and 

centralised hosting by Teignbridge council.

• Driven by a shortfall of key positions such as 

senior surveyors and pressure to reduce costs 

whilst maintaining the level of service.

• A remote working system introduced to enable 

surveyors to meet clients across a wide 

geographical area which increases efficiency, 

reduces costs and is more appealing to surveyors.

Benefits

• Reduced support and running costs and shared 

training costs.

• Greater consistency to service provided.

• Staff retention and attract talented individuals due 

to a more employment prospectus.

• Long term efficiency gains.

• Centralised tech support team more efficient by 

dealing with more queries at first point of contact.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Sources: LGA shared service map table 2019 - Link

SBC website - Link

BCS shared service business plan - Link

Source: LGA shared service map table 2019 - Link Source: LGA shared service map table 2019 - Link

Devon Building control website - Link

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 54

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1

http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
https://www.southernbcp.co.uk/
http://decisionmaking.westberks.gov.uk/documents/s49247/7b.%20Building%20Control%20Shared%20Service%20Appendix%20C.pdf
http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
https://www.devonbuildingcontrol.gov.uk/


43

Draft for discussion only

Procurement

There are a number of benefits from collaborating on procurement, not only the greater purchasing power that comes from joint procurement of services, but also

the in-depth knowledge and greater focus that can be placed on category management in a larger scale procurement function. There may be an opportunity to

build on the Surrey Procurement Group through the implementation of a joint procurement and contract management system, which encapsulates all contracts and

procurement frameworks that are being used and are available across the County.

Potential benefits

Residents

• Better contract management will result in higher 

performance standards from suppliers and 

improve the quality of services to the public.

District and Borough Councils

• Financial savings achieved through improved 

procurement helps support the delivery of front 

line and priority services.

• Increased procurement power, knowledge and 

developing of expertise across the District and 

Borough Councils.

• Creating efficiencies by avoiding duplication and 

creating common policies and procedures.

• Avoid competition between individual Districts 

and Boroughs for procurement expertise.

County

• Potential to expand services to County Council, 

increasing purchasing power further.

Current situation / Service Quality

• No shared service currently in place across all the 

District and Borough Councils.

• Surrey Procurement Group has been set up in 

order to share best practice within Surrey relating 

to procurement and contract management. This 

has resulted in shared contracts, and increased 

communications around the timing of large 

procurements. There is an opportunity to leverage 

and formalise this relationship.

• Joint procurement of internal audit services 

partnership exists between 5 District and Borough 

Councils (Epsom & Ewell, Mole Valley, Reigate & 

Banstead, Tandridge, Waverley).

• A number of District and Borough Councils have 

access to InTend e-procurement system via 

access to Surrey County Council’s (SCC) portal. 

Risks

• Structural Changes - May require structural and 

operational changes in authorities before the full 

benefit of shared contracts can be exploited.

• Political  priorities- Differences between the 

political, cultural and structural norms in each 

authority.

• Existing contracts– Collaboration on 

procurements may be limited by the timing of 

contract renewal, which may result in a lack of 

opportunities, or potential costs as a result of 

waiting for other authorities to complete contracts 

or breaking contracts early.

(Back Office)

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



44

Draft for discussion only

Procurement

Stakeholders

Residents

• Customers benefitting 

from services provided by 

suppliers.

District and Borough 

Councils

• Procurement teams.

External

• Suppliers and partners.

Next Steps

Strategic

• Develop a joint strategic approach and agree to the aims and 

scope of joint working in order to build commitment and 

clarity from the outset.

• Gain Chief Executive and Member commitment to engage 

with the Surrey Procurement Group, providing the group with 

the mandate to align procurements.

• Develop a timeline for implementation of the shared service. 

potential scale of team required, impacts on staff (TUPE) etc.

• Develop Governance framework once joint working approach 

confirmed.

Medium term actions

The Surrey Procurement Group can be supported to understand 

the market and identify potential savings through joint 

procurement. This could include:

• Agree on the Districts and Boroughs that want to pursue joint 

working in this area and commence discussions on possible 

types of collaboration.

• Agree an immediate more collaborative approach to 

procurements - avoid missing strategic benefit of aligning 

large procurement activities or leveraging existing 

frameworks.

• Procurement spend analysis of each District and Borough 

Council to identify potential saving opportunities and to assist 

in setting an overall savings target.

• Baseline of current procurement systems.

• Share key procedures and practices (such as the approach to 

preferred suppliers, frameworks etc).

• Develop a timeline of key contracts - A consolidated view on 

the contracts that each District and Borough Council has in 

place in order to develop a timeline of opportunities for 

contract negotiation and consolidation.

(Back Office)

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 56

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



45

Draft for discussion only

Learning from elsewhere

Case Study 1

Coventry, Solihull and Warwickshire shared procurement service

Description

• Coventry City Council, Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council Warwickshire 

County Council and numerous Warwickshire District Councils have a 

shared procurement strategy and savings plan. 

• Where specifications can be agreed, contracts are let by one category 

manager in one authority on behalf of the other participating authorities.

• Initial challenges included the structural and operational changes required 

in the authorities before the full benefit of shared contracts could be 

exploited and also practical consideration such as contingency and liability 

arrangements.

• Many areas of procurement including market intelligence, good practice, 

legal developments, training and key issues are shared to improve 

efficiency and effectiveness in all authorities. 

• There is a shared e-tendering platform for the councils - CSW-JETS which 

enables them to advertise opportunities across all authorities through the 

same system. This means that there is a single point of contact for 

procurement.

Benefits 

• Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council identified financial savings of 

5,715,000 to date since its inception in 2010.

• Cumulative savings delivered by these partnerships in FY19 was £200m.

• Shared portal lowered annual support costs.

• Increased procurement power and developing of expertise in individual 

authorities.

Case Study 2

Crawley, Mid-Sussex and Horsham Shared Procurement

Description

• Shared Procurement service between Crawley Borough Council, Horsham 

District Council and Mid-Sussex District Council was created in 2010. Their 

resources are combined into one team working across the three authorities.

• The Joint Procurement Board governs the shared procurement service via 

an informal agreement and is made up of a representative from each of the 

authorities. 

• Crawley are the ‘lead’ authority taking responsibility for the payments made 

between the authorities and acting as IT lead.

• The main office location is Crawley Borough Council and there are two 

shared service locations in Horsham and Haywards Heath (in Mid-Sussex).

• Both Crawley and Horsham continue to employ their own procurement staff 

and manage and procurement budgets.

• They advertise all tender opportunities on a Shared Services e-Portal. 

Procurement processes are undertaken according to each council’s 

Procurement Code.

• Mole Valley District Councils has participated informally in the shared 

procurement service by way of a pilot since the start of 2020. 

• The budget for the service is split between the three authorities with 

Crawley and Horsham paying 35% and Mid Sussex 30% of the total costs.

Benefits

• Greater capacity, cost savings and improved customer experience.

• Financial savings identified by Crawley council to date since inception in 

2010 is 6,622,030 and in 2019/19 is 1,204,132.

• Increased purchasing power.

• Developed skills and knowledge amongst the team.

• Creating efficiencies by avoiding duplication and creating common policies 

and procedures.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Sources: LGA shared service map table 2019 – Link, LinkSources: LGA shared service map table 2019 – Link

Local Government article on shared services - Link

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1

http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s11018/CBC%20Molley%20Valley%20Proposal.pdf
http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
https://www.publictechnology.net/articles/features/how-can-local-government-get-it-right-shared-services


46

Draft for discussion only

IT infrastructure

Not withstanding the significant investment in IT infrastructure over the years, there are further opportunities to standardise the IT estate across councils. Technology could 

be incrementally improved and standardised in specific service areas, for example, a new system to support procurement, while an IT roadmap is planned and potential 

improvements are aligned to contract end dates.

Potential benefits

Residents

• Benefit from a more efficient and higher quality

service.

• Greater alignment with resident expectations, with

more commercial interactions with the Council.

District and Borough Councils

• Cost savings.

• Access to best practice technology developed by 

other Councils.

• System improvements and process simplification.

• A common platform would lead to increased 

communication between the District and Borough 

Councils and act as a  foundation for more back 

office collaboration in the future.

• Service resilience due to fewer single points of 

failure and increased scale.

• Improved disaster recovery plans and solutions to 

ensure business continuity in the local area.

County Council

• Simplified system interaction with the District and

Borough Councils’ technologies.

• Opportunities to join technology relationships and

leading practice.

Current situation / Service Quality

Current service delivery

• The majority of District and Borough Councils 

manage their own IT infrastructure, with instances of 

shared backup and disaster recovery arrangements, 

as well as common service providers.

• Runnymede currently use Goss via an arrangement 

where Spelthorne is their supplier and Runnymede 

utilise Spelthorne’s contract with Goss. This 

arrangement is due to expire in March 2021 and 

Runnymede have recently procured their own 

Content Management System (CMS).

• Waverley host ICT storage for Surrey Heath, who 

reciprocate by transferring ‘virtual machines’ 

(lagged copy) to Waverley. This is being reviewed 

on an on-going basis as more systems are being 

moved to the Cloud. 

Risks

• IT spend is significant, and there will also be legacy 

costs and financial costs to purchase new IT 

equipment may be necessary.

• Complexity and benefits realisation – Significant 

IT programmes across multiple partners have a high 

level of complexity, and IT programmes historically 

have challenges delivering on potential benefits, 

which could take time to realise. This would need to 

be carefully set out within a potential business case 

and benefits realisation plan.

• Resource requirement - Managing a large and 

complex infrastructure with the current level of 

resources may be an issue.

• Service standards may be set at different levels 

across the District and Borough Councils, leading to 

possible customer and member complaints.

(Back Office)

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 58

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



47

Draft for discussion only

IT infrastructure

Stakeholders

Residents 

• Customers (e.g. local 

businesses).

District and Borough 

Councils

• District and Borough 

Council IT teams.

County Council

• IT teams.

External Bodies

• Third party platforms to 

manage IT infrastructure.

Next Steps

Strategic

• Develop a joint strategic approach and agree to the aims and 

scope of joint working in order to build commitment and 

clarity from the outset.

• Develop a Cloud strategy and consider broader strategic 

themes such as cyber security and resourcing.

• Develop a timeline for implementation of the shared service, 

potential scale of team required, impacts on staff (TUPE) etc. 

Feedback from the District and Borough Councils suggests a 

longer roadmap of around 5-10 years would be appropriate 

and the District and Borough Councils should proactively 

work towards commonality during this period.

• Develop Governance framework once joint working approach 

confirmed.

• Build a centre of excellence through sharing challenges and 

expertise.

Medium term actions

• Agree on the Districts and Boroughs that want to pursue joint 

working in this area and commence discussions on possible 

types of collaboration.

• Agree on a joint homeworking policy.

• Carry out a Cloud and system licensing baseline/audit, 

including contract renewing and cyber resilience.

• Share digital strategies and identify common ground and align 

common systems such as I-Trent for HR.

• Implement individuals/team to assist the IT team in ensuring 

the practical application of joint systems.

• Assess financial implications of each District and Borough 

Council considering existing infrastructure and contracts with 

third parties.

• Explore remit and focus of the Councillor IT group and officer 

IT group.

• Identify the business and culture changes that may be 

necessary for successful collaboration.

(Back Office)

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 59

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



48

Draft for discussion only

Learning from elsewhere

Case Study 1

3C ICT

Description

• 3C ICT is a shared ICT service established in 2016 

between Cambridge City Council, Huntingdonshire 

District Council and South Cambridgeshire District 

Council. 

• The main aims of creating shared service included 

providing improved value for customers, creating an 

attractive place to work, safeguarding clients and income 

generation.

• Services include day-to-day customer support via the 

Service Desk software and business applications support 

network and infrastructure services.

• Within the 20/21 Business plan for ICT Shared service, 

challenges identified around infrastructure include: 

managing a large infrastructure with the current level of 

resources; addressing gaps in separate infrastructures as 

they are migrated onto the new server and ensuring 

infrastructure meets the design of all Districts.

Benefits 

• Service resilience as fewer single points of failure.

• Reduce probability and impact of service outages.

• Savings through reduced management costs and 

economies of scale.

• Collaborative innovation: increased scale enables 

investment in roles such as technical architect / IT 

Analyst, which will be the catalyst for accelerating the 

design and delivery of next generation council services.

• Overall savings of 3C ICT financial savings 18/19 -

£550,000.

Case Study 2

Essex online Partnership

Description

• The Essex Online Partnership (EOLP) is a technology 

partnership with membership from public authorities 

across Essex (including Essex Local Authorities, Essex 

Fire & Rescue and Essex Police.

• Established in 2002, the purpose of the Essex Online 

Partnership (EOLP) is to share knowledge, resource and 

services to provide technology solutions which support 

the business needs of each partner organisation and 

reduce the cost of their technology. 

• Recent example of successful collaboration includes the 

development of the data tool VIPER (Vulnerable Intelligent 

Persons Emergency Response), enabling category one 

responders to plan, deliver and monitor the success of an 

emergency planning response digitally and in real-time to 

help protect the most vulnerable residents.

Benefits

• Financial savings identified across the partnership since 

inception in 2002 to 2019 is  £7,019,832.

• Supports the development of integrated and accessible 

local services to Essex residents and businesses.

Case Study 3

OneSource

Description

• OneSource is a shared service partnership formed 

between Newham London Borough Council and Havering 

London Borough Council in 2014.

• This brought together 22 back-office services and 1300 

staff with the aim of streamlining processes and teams, 

and considerably reducing corporate support costs in 

order to protect front-line services. 

• Both Local Authorities were also part of the One Oracle 

Project. This involved  a shared IT platform (of Oracle’s 

ERP software) between six London Borough councils. 

• The members of the One Oracle partnership agreed not 

to continue with the current arrangements beyond July 

2018 when the contract ended with Capgemini who 

hosted the service. This was at least partly due to 

uncertainty around which councils would remain in the 

partnership and therefore impacted on potential cost for 

each council to continue the partnership.

Benefits

• Reducing duplication.

• Sharing skills/resources between Local Authorities.

• Minimise costs for hosting and upgrades which can be 

directed to frontline services.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Sources: LGA shared service map table 2019 - Link
Business Plan for ICT Shared Service 2020/21 - Link

Sources: LGA shared service map table 2019 - Link

VIPER case study - Link

Sources: LGA shared service map table 2019 - Link

Newham article - Link

London Borough of Croydon public notice of key decisions - Link

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 60

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1

http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
http://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s108853/Appendix%202%20-%20ICT%20Shared%20Service%20Business%20Plan.pdf
http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
https://www.local.gov.uk/essex-online-partnership
http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
https://www.newhamrecorder.co.uk/news/politics/onesource-changes-revealed-1-6740911
https://www.croydon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/articles/downloads/9%20August%202017%20%E2%80%93%20key%20decisions%20by%20Cabinet%20Member%20for%20Finance%20%26%20Treasury.pdf


49

Draft for discussion only

Delivering Economic Development

A coordinated approach to economic development between the District and Borough Councils and the County Council (and other partners), to maximise the impact 

of investment and development funding. A group view on the benefit of investment in to any of the District and Borough Councils will help to strategically place 

proposals for further investment and development funding, prioritising and maximising the benefit of Surrey as a whole.

Potential benefits

Residents

• Promote the economic, social and environmental 

wellbeing of the areas.

• Employment opportunities as more businesses 

develop in the area.

District and Borough Councils

• Access to wider skills and greater capacity to 

build regional strength and capitalise on 

investment opportunities.

• Opportunity to tackle key problems that exist 

across the District and Borough Council 

boundaries.

County Council

• Additional inward investment and funding in to 

Surrey, with a more strategic view on bidding for 

funding that benefits residents and County.

Current situation / Service Quality

Current service delivery

• Individual District and Borough Councils have 

their own economic development strategies in 

place.

• Mole Valley - Economic Development team is 

leading on the Opportunity Dorking town centre 

economic regeneration programme (includes 

promoting businesses to grow and stay in the 

area).

• Spelthorne Business Forum is a partnership 

between the business community and Spelthorne 

Council as a means of promoting economic 

growth within Spelthorne. They will be soon 

launching their own business Incubator which will 

provide a base for entrepreneurs and new 

businesses.

Risks

• Legal set up of partnership/collaboration – Due 

to different priorities and existing economic 

development programmes in place, the District 

and Borough Councils may be less willing to 

agree to a formal collaboration that requires 

mandatory financial contributions and restricts 

freedom of decision making. 

• Commitment - If a partnership or working forum 

is agreed, then without a formal legal document 

there is no guarantee that commitment won’t fall 

away. 

• Conflicting interests - There are likely to be 

conflicting investment and funding views across 

the Councils, in respect to risk appetite and 

funding requirement.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



50

Draft for discussion only

Delivering Economic Development

Stakeholders

Public Interest

• Local businesses.

District and Borough 

Councils

• Economic development 

teams.

External Bodies

• Existing business and 

potential investors into 

the area.

Next Steps

Strategic

• Develop a joint strategic approach and agree to the aims and 

scope of joint working in order to build commitment and 

clarity from the outset.

• Work towards the Surrey Growth Board becoming the 

overarching body that holds economic development plans 

together.

• Work towards establishing a Surrey wide body that could be 

linked to a Combined Authority.

Medium term actions

• Agree on the Districts and Boroughs that want to pursue joint 

working in this area and commence discussions on possible 

types of collaboration.

• Agree to definition of ‘economic development.’

• Raise awareness of One Surrey Growth and consider 

remodifying other bodies and forums that exist. 

• Discussions with County Council needed around how to widen 

influence of the District and Borough Councils..

• Explore areas for immediate joint working such as Additional 

Restrictions Grant.

• Explore the financial potential of the opportunity, and potential 

funding pots available.

• Identify areas where a collective view on economic development 

has helped previously.

• Ensure that development plans have engagement from 

members, leadership and some form of accountability.

• Share resources between the District and Borough Councils to 

resolve current resourcing issues and fill skills gap.

• Understand opportunity linked to Community Development Fund 

(SCC) – to be channelled through Joint Committees.

• Collective lobby for additional funding for Surrey as a whole.

• Obtain feedback from residents and utilise local knowledge to 

feed in to investment and development decisions.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 62

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



51

Draft for discussion only

Learning from elsewhere
New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Case Study 1

Lancaster and South Cumbria Economic Region Partnership

Description

• A formal, shared link between South Lakeland District Council, Lancaster 

City Council and Barrow Borough Council to build on collective strengths,  

increase their capacity to deliver on key issues affecting the region and  

drive economic development across the Lancaster and South Cumbria 

Economic Region.

• A Joint Committee has been appointed and acts as a key strategic forum, 

making representations and recommendations to national and local 

government and has direct oversight of key growth-focused initiatives 

across the region.

• Lancaster & South Cumbria Economic Region Business Prospectus was 

launched in June, promoting potential for investment in the economy around 

Morecambe Bay.

Benefits 

• Attract more external investment.

• Greater resources and capacity to tackle key issues (such as climate and 

poverty) and accelerate growth within the area.

Case Study 2

Growth Lancashire 

Description

• A business support and economic development company. It is owned by 

several Lancashire local authorities and operates across the County.

• Board comprises local business leaders and members from local councils.

• Focuses on supporting businesses to grow, caring for and developing 

Lancashire’s heritage and cultural assets, securing and delivering external 

funding, and promoting Lancashire and encouraging investment. 

• They are a member of the Northern Powerhouse Partners Programme and a 

delivery partner for Lancashire’s Business Growth where they are 

contracted to deliver business advice to Lancashire’s business and help 

match them to relevant funded support programmes. During 19/20 they 

worked with more than 450 of Lancashire’s SMEs.

Benefits 

• By pooling resources and expertise, they can deliver projects across 

boundaries to achieve faster results.

• Attract greater levels of private sector investment.

Sources: LGA shared service map table 2019 - Link

Growth Lancashire website - Link

Sources: LGA shared service map table 2019 - Link

Article on committee formation - Link

Lancaster and South Cumbria Joint Committee report - Link

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 63

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1

http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
https://www.growthlancashire.co.uk/
http://e-sd.org/oFAMg/
https://www.cumbriacrack.com/2020/07/02/significant-step-forward-taken-in-bay-partnership/
https://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=29469&ISATT=1


52

Draft for discussion only

Shared approach to Housing

The District and Borough Councils working together to approach the challenge of housing provision across Surrey. This includes looking at the development of new housing to meet 

housing requirements for Surrey as a whole, as well as topics such as social housing, vulnerability and accessibility of housing across the District and Borough Council boundaries. 

Housing demand is not limited by the boundaries in which the District and Borough Councils operate, and having an collective approach to these challenges may provide alternative 

solutions to meeting housing targets and demand.

Potential benefits

Residents

• Increased supply of affordable housing.

• Reduce homelessness within the local area.

District and Borough Councils

• Sharing of knowledge, resources and data (e.g. around

procurement, best practices).

• Council’s better placed to address housing shortfall.

• Greater co-ordination which could help reduce empty

homes.

County Council

• Simplification of the number of parties that the County

Council must communicate and work with. Fewer

engaging parties and more streamlined operations.

Current situation / Service Quality

Current service delivery

• Surrey Chief Housing Officers Group – A quarterly 

meeting between Chief Housing Officers from the 

District and Borough Councils. There are various 

operational groups that sit beneath it, such as Surrey 

Housing Needs Managers group (focussing on 

homelessness and demand for social housing) and 

Surrey Enabling Officers Group (enabling and delivery 

of affordable housing). There is collaborative work 

undertaken on an ad hoc basis through these 

structures, but no formal work programme and there is 

no specific staffing resource employed to drive work 

forward.

• Surrey Community Housing Partnership - Initiative 

delivered by Surrey Community Action to promote and 

support community led housing in Surrey. The 

partnership is between Surrey Community Action and 

eight Surrey Borough and District Councils.

• Search Moves choice- based lettings scheme. 

Elmbridge have an agreement with Spelthorne, PA 

Housing (housing association) and a software provider, 

Locata, relating to management of housing register, 

nominations to social housing vacancies and database 

management of homelessness.

Risks

• Conflicting interests - Balancing each District and 

Borough Council’s own organisational interest with the 

collective interest of all partners involved. Each District 

and Borough Council will have varying needs and 

priorities which means compromise will be key to the 

success of any collaboration.

• Different targets and plans - Housing targets 

continue to be set at a District and Borough level, and 

there are ongoing Local Plans which will limit the ability 

to work collaboratively across boundaries.

• Upfront financial investment - Significant financial 

investment may be required up-front to approach 

development of new housing.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 64

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



53

Draft for discussion only

Shared approach to Housing

Stakeholders

Residents

• Citizens eligible for social 

housing.

District and Borough 

Councils

• Social housing teams and 

partnerships across the 

District and Borough 

Councils.

External Bodies

• Housing Authorities.

Next Steps

Strategic

• Develop a joint strategic approach and agree to the aims and 

scope of joint working in order to build commitment and 

clarity from the outset.

• Incorporate local plans in new joint approach to ensure 

affordable housing targets are met but also the varied needs 

to each District and Borough Council.

• Develop Governance framework once joint working approach 

confirmed.

• Develop a timeline for implementation of the shared service, 

potential scale of team required, impacts on staff (TUPE) etc.

• Assess intrinsic links to planning and housing, and the 

potential impact this may have on key topics from skills to 

biodiversity.

• Explore potential impact of the Housing White Paper to help 

establish direction for future collaboration.

• Determine how collaboration can drive outcomes through 

provision of homelessness support.

Medium term actions

• Agree on the Districts and Boroughs that want to pursue joint 

working in this area and commence discussions on possible 

types of collaboration.

• Understand skills gaps, requirements and existing expertise of 

officers.

• Engage with residents to understand views and objections to 

developing a shared approach to housing.

• Work with County to secure the provision of land.

• Explore joint working on associated services such as repairs.

• Engage with developers together to maximise supply of 

housing.

• Share resources related to procurement for those Districts 

and Boroughs that have retained housing stock.

• Understand demographics and who may be willing to move 

between the District and Borough Councils.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



54

Draft for discussion only

Learning from elsewhere

Case Study 1

Greater Manchester: Housing Joint Venture 

Description

• Joint venture between Greater Manchester 

Combined Authority (GMCA) and Greater 

Manchester Housing Providers (GMHP).

• GMHP are substantial investors in the Greater 

Manchester community. In recent years members of 

the group have been delivering around 40% of new 

homes across Greater Manchester.

• The joint venture will act as an LLP with a £3m 

investment from each housing association as well as 

a £2m contribution from GMCA in return for a 20% 

stake in the joint venture. The associations will own 

the remaining 80%. 

• The partnership will be a commercial developer, 

buying land and securing planning permission to 

build and sell land on the open market.

Benefits 

• Better placed to identify available land at an 

affordable price and therefore address the shortfall 

of housing more quickly.

• Due to expertise and resources available, the joint 

venture can take a flexible approach to meet the 

needs of different boroughs.

Case Study 2

West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA)

Description

• WMCA became the first region in the UK to 

introduce its own localised definition of affordable 

housing which is based on local people paying no 

more than 35% of their salary on mortgages or rent. 

The current definition is 80% of market value which 

is not affordable to many.

• This is significant as any development receiving 

WMCA investment must make a minimum of 20% of 

the homes in their scheme affordable.

• In order for the Midlands to meet future housing 

demand and build 215,000 new homes by 2031, the 

WMCA also introduced a ‘brownfield first’ policy 

where new homes and commercial developments 

are built on former industrial land wherever possible 

and has secured new funding from national 

government to help achieve this (received a £41m 

housing deal payment towards the end of 2019 to 

fund building new homes on Brownfield land).

Benefits

• A total of 16,938 properties were built in 2018/19 - a 

15% rise on the previous year and twice the UK 

average increase.

Case Study 3

West Midlands Homelessness Taskforce 

Description

• Launched in May 2017, the taskforce includes 7 

Local Authorities, key public sector agencies. 

representation from Voluntary and Not for Profit 

sector and senior representation from the Business 

Community.

• Their aim is to support local authorities and public 

services in addressing the prevention and relief of 

homelessness. They share intelligence, approaches 

and provide support to each local authority who set 

their own homelessness strategy.

• Task Group set up to identify gaps, challenges and 

asks. Subsequently identified five objectives:

• Accessible, affordable accommodation.

• Tackling welfare related poverty.

• Access to good employment. 

• Information, advice and guidance.

• Integrated prevention.

Benefits
• Reduce homelessness - They supported West 

Midlands Combined Authority’s bid in receiving 

£9.6m of funding for a project (Housing First 

Programme) aimed at getting rough sleepers off the 

streets of the West Midlands. They also convened a 

meeting of Local Authorities, Housing First 

providers; mental health practitioners and 

commissioners to identify opportunities and for gaps 

to be addressed.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Source: WMCA website - Link, LinkSource: LGA - Link Sources: West Midlands Combined Authority Board Report dates 28/06/2019 – Link

WMCA website - Link

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 66

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1

https://www.wmca.org.uk/news/west-midlands-becomes-first-region-to-re-define-affordable-housing/
https://www.wmca.org.uk/news/wmca-deal-to-build-affordable-homes-for-nurses-and-other-key-workers/
https://www.local.gov.uk/greater-manchester-housing-joint-venture
https://www.google.com/search?rlz=1C1GCEA_enGB820GB820&ei=HoW-X_X5LpiD8gLN1rHgBg&q=west+midlands+homelessness+task+force+board+papaer&oq=west+midlands+homelessness+task+force+board+papaer&gs_lcp=CgZwc3ktYWIQAzoECAAQRzoFCCEQoAE6BAghEBVQ2l5YinFg7HFoAHACeAKAAfQFiAHKEpIBCzEuOC40LTEuMC4xmAEAoAEBqgEHZ3dzLXdpesgBB8ABAQ&sclient=psy-ab&ved=0ahUKEwj1gIPWjZ7tAhWYgVwKHU1rDGwQ4dUDCA0&uact=5
https://www.wmca.org.uk/news/rough-sleepers-in-walsall-to-benefit-from-housing-first-scheme/#:~:text=Housing%20First%20is%20a%20Government,charities%20in%20the%20West%20Midlands.


55

Draft for discussion only

Shared Leisure Services

A shared approach to contracting for leisure services across the District and Borough boundaries. With a number of contracts coming to tender, a collective 

approach to the procurement of leisure provision would support effective financial management. Once there is a holistic view of the leisure contracts and provision 

across the County, a strategic approach to contracting, potentially procuring one partner to deliver all Council services at a lower cost, and support the 

development of healthy lifestyles.

Potential benefits

Residents

• Better value leisure services.

• Supporting wellbeing, and including recovery 

plans for physical and mental health related to 

COVID-19

• Greater consistency of leisure services between 

Councils.

• Standardisation of service delivery.

District and Borough Councils

• Cheaper service provision.

• Increased purchasing power.

• Better use of public money, increased value for 

money and more services.

County Council

• Improved services to residents.

Current situation / Service Quality

Current service delivery

• A range of leisure service contracts are in place 

across Councils, with a number coming to tender 

in the next few months/years.

• There is an opportunity to leverage this timing to 

the benefit of residents and improved services.

Risks

• Loss of localism - Potential loss of localism and 

control due to centralisation of services, there 

may be limited political and customer appetite for 

this.

• Existing contracts - Contract timing may limit the 

potential short term benefit of shared contracts, or 

incur costs from break clauses.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



56

Draft for discussion only

Shared Leisure Services

Stakeholders

Public Interest

• All customers who 

receive and use leisure 

services.

District and Borough 

Councils

• Leisure service teams, 

including health and 

social care.

County Council

• Adults and children’s 

social care.

External Bodies

• Active Surrey and Surrey 

health partnerships.

Next Steps

Strategic

• Develop a joint strategic approach and agree to the aims and 

scope of joint working in order to build commitment and 

clarity from the outset.

• Develop a timeline for implementation of the shared service, 

potential scale of team required, impacts on staff (TUPE) etc.

• Develop Governance framework once joint working approach 

confirmed.

Medium term actions

• Agree on the Districts and Boroughs that want to pursue joint 

working in this area and commence discussions on possible 

types of collaboration (e.g possibility of a shared contract to 

realise greater savings, buying power and contract 

negotiation resources).

• Begin to develop a comprehensive view on service contracts 

for leisure, third party providers, and contract end dates 

across the District and Borough Councils.

• Confirm which services are mandatory, which are additional 

and those that are common across the  District and Borough 

Councils.

• Review existing Governance structures and baseline financial 

and service elements.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 68

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



57

Draft for discussion only

Learning from elsewhere

Case Study 1

Greenwich Leisure Ltd (GLL) (trades as ‘Better’)

Description

• A social enterprise created by Greenwich Council that operates under the 

brand ‘Better’ and runs leisure centres in more than a dozen London 

boroughs.

• Now has partnerships with many councils outside London such as York, 

Oxford and Manchester City Council ( covering 18 facilities, including the 

national performance centres for cycling, basketball and squash).

• In 2018, the GLL Group directly managed over 400 facilities including 

leisure centres, play centres, children centres and libraries in partnership 

with over 60 local councils and other organisations. 

• Surplus is reinvested into training staff and upgrading facilities.

Benefits

• More accessible and affordable to customers.

• Financial savings – Greenwich Council identified potential savings of 

£400,000  a year through reduced management fees for the leisure and 

library services provided by GLL. After extending their contract with GLL to 

2031.

Case Study 2

Bridgend County Borough Council and Halo Leisure partnership

Description

• Halo is a registered charity and social enterprise that manage eight leisure 

centres and swimming pools in Bridgend County Borough.

• The purpose of the partnership is to develop healthier communities and to 

provide a sustainable leisure service that meets the need of residents.

Benefits

• Improved quality of service to residents– Their partnership  was recognised 

by UK Leisure industry quality assessor Quest for the quality of service 

provided.

• Reduced management costs.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

Source

Corporate plan 2018-2022 - Link

Sources

Royal Borough of Greenwich Cabinet report 22/07/2020 - Link

GLL homepage - Link, Link

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/5604/corporate-plan-2019-20docx.pdf
https://committees.royalgreenwich.gov.uk/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=ERfmYa2xzN8PPUJLZW56FYNRIJ4vYJ0irYo4%2FOExROqOY2B64KbEcA%3D%3D&rUzwRPf%2BZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3D%3D=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2FLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3D%3D&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3D%3D=hFflUdN3100%3D&kCx1AnS9%2FpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3D%3D=hFflUdN3100%3D&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2BAJvYtyA%3D%3D=ctNJFf55vVA%3D&FgPlIEJYlotS%2BYGoBi5olA%3D%3D=NHdURQburHA%3D&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3D&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3D&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3D
https://www.gll.org/b2b
https://853.london/2020/07/23/greenwich-council-agrees-800000-support-package-for-leisure-centres-and-libraries/


58

Draft for discussion only

Conclusions and next steps
Having explored potential opportunities for collaboration, and outlined a series of tactical and strategic next steps for 

each individual opportunity, there are a series of collective next steps that could be considered.

Conclusions

Eight opportunities for collaboration have been identified and explored in 

detail as part of this work. Each of these represents an opportunity for the 

District and Borough Councils to explore greater joint working, explore 

potential financial savings, develop closer working relationships.

Though these eight opportunities represent a prioritised list of areas for 

exploration, it should be noted that the design principles for collaboration 

could be applied to all District and Borough Councils services, as well as 

County Council services should this be an avenue to explore as part of an 

overall programme.

The continued close working of Chief Executives and Leaders in particular 

will support collaboration.

Although the primary focus is collaboration within the Surrey footprint, this 

will not preclude engaging with neighbouring Councils for example, where 

it makes sense to do so. Joint working opportunities with other public 

sector organisations may also be explored as part of developing business 

cases, and the potential financial benefits by opportunity and at a 

programme level should be explored in a collaboration business case.

Next steps

To maintain momentum and progress towards collaboration, a coherent 

programme of work could be developed to prioritise and progress the eight 

priority areas for collaboration. This would help to hold the Councils to 

account for progress being made, and set a roadmap for progress over the 

medium term.

Alongside this, there are a series of logical next steps which are common 

themes across each of these opportunities, which should be explored:

• Agree a governance structure for the collaboration programme that 

facilitates the agreed Design Principles.

• Agree the strategic direction, aims and detailed scope of the 

collaboration opportunity in order to build commitment and clarity from 

all parties from the outset.

• Decide on the type of collaboration and which District and Borough 

Councils will commit to initial involvement. This will depend on a number 

of factors such as willingness to collaborate in the service category and 

the potential geographic footprint for collaboration.

• Develop a detailed timeline for the implementation of an opportunity, and 

work proactively towards commonality where necessary.

• Develop a consolidated view of key contracts and providers across 

services and Councils to determine alignment and opportunities for 

contract consolidation.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

P
age 70

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



Next steps

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

P
age 71

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



60

Draft for discussion only

Overall conclusions
It is recommended that momentum is maintained following the joint work that has been undertaken, focussing on driving 

forward collaboration opportunities, whilst continuing to explore the LGR options.

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

What could Surrey District and Borough Councils do next?

It is recommended that ongoing progress is made against both the 

assessment of potential options for LGR and delivery of identified 

collaboration opportunities between Councils.

Council and public engagement on LGR, alongside further deep dives in to 

the elements of service provision that are currently delivered by the 

County Council (for example, Children’s services), will provide Councils 

with an additional layer of preparation for future reorganisation should that 

be required. Work that is completed now to help align the efforts of 

Councils will be influential and beneficial for any future potential LGR, 

regardless of outcome, while delivering benefits for residents. 

Collaboration as a basis for working will help improve the resilience of 

District and Borough Councils. All councils have agreed to respond to the 

scale of the financial challenge, and this should be used to make significant 

progress in this area.

Progressing Opportunities

A series of detailed next steps for each of LGR and collaboration are 

detailed on the next pages, however they should not be viewed in isolation. 

Collaborating on a footprint aligned to potential future collaboration may not 

only facilitate accelerate success with fewer parties involved, it can also 

help to align activities and strengthen a potential future case for LGR.

Collaboration opportunities could be assigned to delivery owners, being 

taken forwards by project officers (capitalising on the existing forum that 

has been set up) who would be responsible for progressing a programme 

of collaboration across Surrey, with senior Political and managerial 

oversight by Leaders and Chief Executives. The eight identified 

opportunities have identified next steps. Some of these elements would 

deliver quick wins to prove the concept of collaboration, as well as gain 

public and political buy-in. Other elements are, by their nature, longer term 

and strategic but will create significant impact.

There is no assumption that one form of collaboration is right for Surrey, 

this may be specific to opportunity, and the right delivery model may not 

need to be agreed at the outset to secure gains. Successful collaboration 

will be dependent on the right conditions, including trust between parties. 

Conclusion

It is recommended that momentum is maintained across both strands of 

work in the short term, with a focus on driving forward collaboration 

opportunities whilst maintaining awareness and foresight in relation to any 

future LGR. The scale of challenge from Central Government, both 

financially and in relation to potential structural changes, is significant, 

however the District and Borough Councils should remain ambitious and 

continue to work jointly in seeking to address the challenges.

P
age 72

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



61

Draft for discussion only

Accelerated Next Steps
The speed at which LGR and collaboration opportunities are progressed is dependent on commitment from District and 

Borough Councils. The following next steps could be explored to fast track each area:

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Accelerated next steps for LGR options analysis

There is recognition that the topic of LGR has not gone away, with some 

geographies across the Country continuing to explore Cases for Change 

without formal invitations from Government. There the anticipation of a 

Whitepaper on Devolution, and the potential for a County Council Case for 

Change. As such, there are a number of accelerated next steps that would 

ensure that the District and Borough Councils are best placed to respond 

to a request from Central Government:

• Public Consultation – Public consensus on the proposed option for 

LGR within Surrey will be key to the selection process, and as such early 

public consultation on this topic will help align citizen, member and 

executive views.

• County Functions – District and Borough Councils could consider how 

current elements of County functions could be controlled and delivered, 

including how Councils can demonstrate such services could be 

effectively administered and any potential financial savings associated 

with this.

• Local Representation – A key topic for members and citizens will 

continue to be how unitaries impact local representation. As such 

models could be explored to ensure local representation is preserved in 

any future model for unitary government within Surrey.

Detailed next steps are outlined on page 62.

Accelerated next steps for collaboration opportunities

Collaboration can be explored regardless of the context around LGR. As 

such, there are immediate next steps which would maintain momentum 

and accelerate the delivery of benefits:

• Programme Structure – Appropriate governance and an agreed 

programme should be stood up to continue work on collaboration, 

engaging key parties from all Councils on an ongoing basis.

• Opportunity Business Cases – The opportunity cards which have been 

developed should be utilised as a basis for a business case for each 

opportunity. These should be strengthened with detailed scope, involved 

parties, and financial benefits which are accepted by the Councils 

involved.

• Strategic Direction – For key collaboration opportunities, strategic 

direction from Chief Executives and Leaders should be gathered. This 

should be developed through facilitated sessions with all engaged 

parties, working through potential issues to form a collective view on 

direction.

Detailed next steps are outlined on page 63.

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



62

Draft for discussion only

LGR - Conclusions and next steps

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Having reviewed and evaluated the potential options for LGR within Surrey, we have identified a highest scoring option for 

unitary authorities, as well as a number of next steps.

Conclusions

Option 3c scored most highly in the assessment, and is the highest scoring 

potential option for unitary government from this analysis. The high scoring 

alternative models remain feasible options, however, based on the 

feedback received this model continues to be the highest scoring option.

As part of the feedback received, there was a desire to better understand 

more distinct alternatives to the options selected, and these could be 

explored as part of public consultation. These alternative models could 

explore a different number of unitaries within Surrey, and different 

footprints across the County. As such, three models have been identified 

for further consideration should a case for change progress:

Option 2b was identified as the highest scoring two unitary model, and 

option 3b was identified as the highest scoring three unitary model which 

had three District/Borough Councils in an East authority. 

As noted earlier in this section, an alternative that has been put forward 

that may need to be considered by the District and Borough Councils is the 

option of enhanced two tier government. However, it is noted that this is 

unlikely to be accepted within a LGR Case for Change due to no 

reorganisation in structural form.

Next steps

Public consultation on the potential options would help to build 

engagement and consensus.

More detail could be considered on areas identified as part of feedback on 

the unitary models:

It is recommended that the following steps are explored:

1. Council and public consultation on potential options for LGR.

2. Further investigation of proposed options to supplement analysis on key 

areas (e.g. health and social care).

3. Engagement with the County Council, where appropriate, to consider 

options collaboratively.

4. Exploration of potential collaboration opportunities to address ongoing 

Council challenges.

2b – Two unitary 

alternative

3c – Highest scoring 

option

3b – Distinct 

alternative

• Health and social care integration.

• Economies of scale.

• Retention of local knowledge.

• Benefits of alternatives to the 

status quo / current state.

• County Council engagement.

• Strategic challenges for Surrey as 

a County.

• Local representation, town and 

parish Councils.

• Working with neighbouring 

authorities outside of Surrey.

P
age 74

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



63

Draft for discussion only

Collaboration - Conclusions and next steps

Executive 

summary

Background 

and scope

LGR Options 

Analysis

Collaboration 

opportunities
Next steps

Having explored potential opportunities for collaboration, and outlined a series of tactical and strategic next steps for 

each individual opportunity, there are a series of collective next steps that could be considered.

Conclusions

Eight opportunities for collaboration have been identified and explored in 

detail as part of this work. Each of these represents an opportunity for the 

District and Borough Councils to explore greater joint working, explore 

potential financial savings, develop closer working relationships.

Though these eight opportunities represent a prioritised list of areas for 

exploration, it should be noted that the design principles for collaboration 

could be applied to all District and Borough Councils services, as well as 

County Council services should this be an avenue to explore as part of an 

overall programme.

The continued close working of Chief Executives and Leaders in particular 

will support collaboration.

Although the primary focus is collaboration within the Surrey footprint, this 

will not preclude engaging with neighbouring Councils for example, where 

it makes sense to do so. Joint working opportunities with other public 

sector organisations may also be explored as part of developing business 

cases, and the potential financial benefits by opportunity and at a 

programme level should be explored in a collaboration business case.

Next steps

To maintain momentum and progress towards collaboration, a coherent 

programme of work could be developed to prioritise and progress the eight 

priority areas for collaboration. This would help to hold the Councils to 

account for progress being made, and set a roadmap for progress over the 

medium term.

Alongside this, there are a series of logical next steps which are common 

themes across each of these opportunities, which should be explored:

• Agree a governance structure for the collaboration programme that 

facilitates the agreed Design Principles.

• Agree the strategic direction, aims and detailed scope of the 

collaboration opportunity in order to build commitment and clarity from 

all parties from the outset.

• Decide on the type of collaboration and which District and Borough 

Councils will commit to initial involvement. This will depend on a number 

of factors such as willingness to collaborate in the service category and 

the potential geographic footprint for collaboration.

• Develop a detailed timeline for the implementation of an opportunity, and 

work proactively towards commonality where necessary.

• Develop a consolidated view of key contracts and providers across 

services and Councils to determine alignment and opportunities for 

contract consolidation.

New approach to Waste

Collection, Commercial 

and Disposal

Standardisation of 

Revenues and Benefits
Sharing Building Control Procurement

IT infrastructure
Delivering Economic 

Development

Shared approach to 

Housing
Shared Leisure Services

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



64

Surrey District and Borough Councils

P
age 76

A
genda Item

 3
A

ppendix 1



 
  
  
Councillor Hannah Dalton 
Epsom and Ewell Borough Council 
18 Gayfere Road  
Epsom  
Surrey  
KT172JX 

Luke Hall MP 
Minister for Regional Growth and Local 
Government 

  
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government 
Fry Building  
2 Marsham Street  
London  
SW1P 4DF 
 
Tel: 0303 444 3440 
Email: luke.hall@communities.gov.uk 
  
www.gov.uk/mhclg 
  
Our Ref:9656232 

  
 8 December 2020 

 
Dear Councillor Dalton,    
 
Thank you for your email dated 19 October about Surrey County Council and unitary local 
government, which follows on from my letter of 9 October to Councillor Tim Oliver. 
    
As my letter to Councillor Oliver made clear, councils in Surrey have not been formally invited 
to submit proposals for unitary local government. Where councils are invited there is a formal 
process which involves the submission of proposals, consultation and an assessment of all 
the evidence against our criteria; which are that the proposal, if implemented, must be likely 
to improve local government in the area, command a good deal of local support overall 
across the area, and lead to unitary councils covering a credible geography.  
 
The statute requires that the Secretary of State consult any councils which would be affected 
by a proposal but that did not submit the proposal; as well as other any persons he considers 
appropriate. In practice this includes gathering views from a wide range of stakeholders – 
from the councils, other public service providers, businesses and voluntary sector 
organisations and, very importantly, residents.   
  
We are clear that any reform of an area’s local government is most effectively achieved 
through locally led proposals put forward by those who best know the area, the very essence 
of localism to which the Government remains committed. There is no question of any top 
down imposition of Government solutions. It is up to local areas to decide on whether they 
want to reform their structures and there is no fixed or arbitrary timetable for all councils 
across England to follow.  
 
The Covid-19 pandemic has rightly necessitated resources across Whitehall and in local 
government being re-allocated to tackling Covid-19 and on economic recovery, and this must 
our number one priority at present. 
 
Once again, thank you for writing in on this important matter and sharing your concerns. 
 

 
LUKE HALL MP  

Page 77

Agenda Item 3
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



Strategy and Resources Committee
16 March 2021

EPSOM & EWELL DRAFT COVID 19 RECOVERY PLAN

Head of Service: Kathryn Beldon, Chief Executive
Wards affected: (All Wards);
Urgent Decision?(yes/no) No
If yes, reason urgent decision 
required:
Appendices (attached): Epsom & Ewell Draft Covid 19 Recovery Plan

Summary

To support our communities and local economy recover from the global pandemic, 
Members are asked to approve the draft Covid 19 Recovery Plan.  To ensure that the 
Council can deliver the Vision, Four Year Plan and the Recovery Plan, there is a need 
to reconfigure the Council’s current operating model.  Members are asked to agree the 
priorities/ambitions which will form the basis for the reconfigured operating model.

Recommendation (s)
The Committee is asked to:

(1) Approve the draft Covid19 Recovery Plan to enable recovery work to 
commence and our partners to be consulted.  

(2) Agree the priorities/ambitions for the reconfiguration of the Council’s 
operating model.

1 Reason for Recommendation

1.1 To assist both the Borough and the Council to recover strongly from the 
Global Pandemic.  

2 Background

2.1 Action taken by the Council during the pandemic has rightly focussed on 
the need to shield and protect our communities and local economy.  As 
members will be aware, the Council has played an integral role in 
assisting communities throughout the past twelve months, working 
tirelessly to ensure support to the most vulnerable (including provision of 
food and care packages, emergency accommodation and welfare 
support) as well as processing grants in excess of £14m to support local 
businesses whilst continuing with the day to day delivery of services to 
residents.

Page 79

Agenda Item 4



Strategy and Resources Committee
16 March 2021

2.2 With the roll out of the vaccine programme progressing well and the 
government announcing its roadmap out of lockdown, it is time to look 
ahead and determine how the Council can support our borough, our 
residents and our businesses recover from Covid19 and the impact of the 
pandemic.  

2.3 Over the coming year many of our existing strategies will need to be 
refocussed to reflect the radically changed context brought about by the 
pandemic.  In particular we will need to explore the key themes affecting 
our residents, the economy and businesses which are critical in this 
emerging new world.  

2.4 Much has been achieved over the last year by working together with 
partners whether that is with the voluntary sector, community groups, 
other councils, public sector organisations and businesses etc. By working 
together and recognising the importance of partnership and collaboration, 
the Borough has demonstrated how much can be achieved. This has 
been evident from the way in which the officers have worked in a much 
more agile way, across boundaries and with increased flexibility to forge 
new and improved relationships.   It is vital that the Council builds on 
these relationships and uses the recovery as a catalyst to drive change 
both in the way we work and engage with others.   

2.5 Epsom and Ewell Draft Covid19 Recovery Plan

2.6 The Draft COVID-19 Recovery Plan sets out Epsom and Ewell Council’s 
vision for recovery. This is a critical document setting out clearly how we 
can support our communities, businesses and the local economy.  

2.7 Undoubtedly the Draft Covid 19 Recovery Plan will need to flex as current 
uncertainty reduces and discussions progress with Community Groups, 
Voluntary Sector and Local Businesses. It is important that we engage 
with those individuals and organisations and work together to find the 
solutions to the issues faced by our communities and economy. Any 
amendments to the Plan arising from these discussions will be brought 
back to Strategy and Resources Committee later in the year.

Need for a new reconfigured operating model

2.8 With a newly approved Future40 Vision and the 4 Year Plan, Members 
have provided a strong strategic ambition for this Council which 
encompassing a desire to;-

2.8.1 lead our place and be at the heart of local partnerships,

2.8.2 build strong healthy and safe communities; and

2.8.3 protect our natural and built environment.  

Page 80

Agenda Item 4



Strategy and Resources Committee
16 March 2021

2.9 The Draft Covid19 Recovery Plan also places a strong emphasis on 
community wellbeing whilst recognising that our local businesses and 
economy will need support too.  It is vital that this change in emphasis is 
capable of being resourced effectively,

2.10 To deliver the strategic ambitions outlined in the Vision and Four Year 
Plan, drive forward the Draft Recovery Plan and for the Council to build 
back better from the pandemic, the officer team will need to do things 
differently.  

2.11 To ensure the Council is in the best possible position to forge a 
sustainable and successful future delivering the approved member 
priorities, a new reconfigured operating model is required. This will ensure 
we have aligned our priorities and people to effectively deliver our 
strategic vision. A new reconfigured operating model will also help to build 
capacity across the organisation in areas which need it most and will allow 
for skills development to meet current and future needs. The work to 
deliver a reconfigured operating model will be undertaken in the next few 
months.   

2.12 Members are asked to agree the following priorities/ambitions, to assist 
the Chief Executive reconfigure a new operating model which will deliver 
the clear strategic direction and priorities agreed by Members.  In line with 
our Managing Workforce Change Policy, officers will have the opportunity 
to provide their views and opinions on any proposals which will be 
considered before any final plans are implemented.  

2.13 Services will be reconfigured with a strong emphasis/focus on the 
following priorities:- 

2.13.1 Place Shaping and Climate Change –Ensuring future plans 
and ambitions for the Borough in terms of spatial, economic 
development and climate change are aligned and co-
ordinated. 

2.13.2 Keeping our Community Safe and Well - holistically 
address key issues of wellbeing irrespective of age such as 
social isolation, mental health, domestic violence, obesity and 
digital exclusion. Building and developing new ways of 
working together with voluntary sector, community groups and 
vulnerable residents.

2.13.3 Supporting our Local Economy – Support the re-opening of 
our local businesses, attracting people back to the high streets 
and shopping parades and securing more investment and 
jobs. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 4



Strategy and Resources Committee
16 March 2021

2.13.4 Protecting our Natural and Built Environment - Quality 
green open space has always been an important component 
of our plans.  Post Covid19, it is important that we protect 
them and ensure that they are there to be enjoyed by all.  
Similarly the integrity of our built environment and the planning 
system needs to be upheld through design standards and 
appropriate enforcement.  

2.13.5 Supply of Affordable homes – Work with developers, 
housing associations and other partners to endeavour to 
supply as many affordable homes as possible across the 
Borough. 

2.13.6 Collaborating – Opportunities for collaboration will be 
sought, where possible and appropriate, with partners across 
Surrey and other local authority partners with the aim to 
provide greater resilience, capacity and in some areas access 
to a wider professional skill set.  Proposals for collaboration 
will be presented to members for approval with a fully costed 
business case and transparent service standards. Agreed 
outcomes and service performance levels will need to be 
effectively monitored.

2.13.7 Engaging and Listening – Building on the success of the 
Future40 engagement programme, a co-ordinated cross 
service approach to engagement is required to ensure we are 
seen as an organisation that listens and responds.  

2.13.8 Enterprising - to maximising existing income streams and 
explore and develop new ones to ensure council services can 
continue to be provided to residents. 

 Effective and Agile – Enhance strategic capacity, align 
service groups to support collaborative, flexible, cross 
boundaries  and efficient workflow, develop a co-ordinated 
approach to cross cutting themes (such as climate change, 
enforcement, governance etc)and improve effective decision 
making and accountability. 

3 Risk Assessment

Legal or other duties

3.1 Impact Assessments

3.1.1 Equality impact assessments will be undertaken where 
necessary as projects are developed.  Equality Impact 
Assessments will be required as part of reconfiguration the 
operating model. 

Page 82

Agenda Item 4



Strategy and Resources Committee
16 March 2021

3.2 Crime & Disorder

3.2.1 There are no specific Crime and Disorder considerations 
associated with this report.  

3.3 Safeguarding

3.3.1 There are no safeguarding risks considerations associated 
with this report.

3.4 Dependencies

4.4.1  There are no dependencies associated with this report. 

4 Financial Implications

4.1 During the pandemic, the officer team has demonstrated an ability to 
adapt and develop new skills in a very short space of time. As with any 
proposed changes, staff will be supported through the transition to the 
reconfigured operating model. If necessary, Strategy and Resources will 
be asked to agree any one off costs (such as redundancy payments) 
associated with the reconfigured operating model prior to implementation. 

4.2 The 2021/22 Budget approved on the 16 February 2021, contained a 
number of actions which impact on the Council’s current operating model.  
The reconfigured operating model will deliver those agreed reductions. 
Further savings are unlikely to be achieved given the streamline nature of 
our services and the need to invest in additional skills and capacity to 
ensure Future40, Four Year Plan and the Recovery Plan can be 
delivered. 

Section 151 Officer’s comments:

5 Legal Implications

5.1 None arising from the contents of this report. 

5.2 Monitoring Officer’s comments: None arising from the contents of this 
report. 

6 Policies, Plans & Partnerships

6.1 Council’s Key Priorities: The Council’s Four Year Plan sets five overall 
themes, reflecting the long term priorities for the Borough. It recognises 
the challenges, and sets out a road map of how the Council will continue 
to drive forward the work required as efficiently and effectively as 
possible. 

Page 83

Agenda Item 4



Strategy and Resources Committee
16 March 2021

6.2 Service Plans: The actions contained within the Draft Covid19 Recovery 
Plan will be contained within future Service Delivery Plans.

6.3 Climate & Environmental Impact of recommendations: There are no 
specific climate and environmental recommendations associated with this 
report. 

6.4 Sustainability Policy & Community Safety Implications:  There are no 
specific sustainability and community safety implications associated with 
this report.

6.5 Partnerships: The Council will need to build upon the relationships built 
with partners during the pandemic to ensure that the Borough recovers 
strongly. 

7 Background papers

7.1 The documents referred to in compiling this report are as follows:

Previous reports:

 Future 40

 Four Year Plan

 

Page 84

Agenda Item 4



www.waverley.gov.ukwww.waverley.gov.uk

BUILD BACK BETTER
OUR FOCUS ON BRIGHTER FUTURE AS WE COME OUT OF THE PANDEMIC

Epsom and Ewell’s Post Pandemic Recovery Plan 

DRAFT – V1 04.02.2021 

P
age 85

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



As a Borough and a council, we will recover from the Covid-19 pandemic to be stronger 
and better than before.  We will use these six principles, to establish a “new normal”

Principle 1:  Green and Vibrant (our places)

Supporting the shift to more sustainable transport (incl walking, cycling and public 
transport) and reducing the Council’s footprint through more modern working 
practices

Principle 2:  Opportunity and Prosperity (our businesses)

Taking a central role in the recovery of our local economy, supporting the recovery 
of our high streets, Epsom Market and attracting inward investment and jobs.

Principle 3:  Safe and well (our people)

Managing the continued emergency response, ensuring that the most vulnerable in 
the community are supported,  while enabling services to recovery safely for staff 
and service users, and promoting the borough as a safe and welcoming place

Our 6 principles for recovery established 
by Members early in the pandemic

P
age 86

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



Principle 4:  Cultural and Creative (our outlook)

To learn from the experience of the pandemic, taking a fresh perspective to the 
challenges we faced.  Supporting the re-introduction of safe cultural activities and 
events in the borough whilst improving the efficiency of our venues (including in 
the Market Place, Bourne Hall, Playhouse, Cinema, Racing Industry, Film Festival)

Principle 5:  Smart and Connected (our approach)

Strengthen partnership working across local businesses, voluntary organisations, 
local statutory agencies and with neighbouring boroughs and districts.   Strengthen 
the Council’s digital infrastructure to support more on-line delivery and more 
modern working practices. Using lessons learned from remote meetings, new ways 
of working to improve internal processes and digital connectivity.

Principle 6:  Well led (your council)

Putting the Council in a more financially sustainable footing, with a greater focus 
on the top priorities, utilising technology to streamline the way we work explore
collaborative working actively support the wellbeing and success of all our staff

Our 6 principles continued..

P
age 87

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



Delivering our Vision

& Four Year Plan

Building stronger services, working with 

our neighbours to provide greater 

resilience and more of the specialist 

skills we need

Greater Collaboration

Taking forward the recommendations for 

enhanced working within the current two-

tier government structure in Surrey.

Taking forward the KPMG study

Supporting the re-opening our businesses, 

attracting people back to our high streets,  

and securing more investment and jobs. 

Re-building our economy
Re-establishing vital community connections, 

keeping people safe and well, tacking social 

isolation, getting people back into employment and 

bringing back the boroughs’ cultural heart

Re-building our community

Ensuring that we are organised and 

aligned to deliver what is needed 

and ready to respond to the 

challenges ahead

Organisational Review

Build Back Better

P
age 88

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



Supporting the recovery
of our CommunitiesP

age 89

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

Community 
Recovery

(1) 

Working to support 
vital voluntary sector 

organisations 

(2)

Practical help for 
households falling 

into poverty

(3)

Residents feeling safe 
and secure in 

rebuilding their lives

(4)

Access to jobs and 
retraining 

opportunities

(5)

Re-opening local 
Council facilities and 
services used by the 

community 

(6)

Reconnecting 
communities, tackling 

social isolation and 
promoting good 
mental health

Community
Recovery

P
age 90

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

The voluntary and community sector is at the heart of the local community, 
providing a lifeline and essential services to some of our most vulnerable 
residents in the borough.  As a result of the pandemic, many more people have 
found themselves vulnerable including falling into poverty or social isolation.

The voluntary sector are also a catalyst for mobilising community action and 
attracting, training and deploying volunteers. 

For most, fundraising and income generating activities have been curtailed 
during the pandemic while fixed costs and some operational costs have 
continued. 

Many local voluntary organisations have had to rely on dwindling reserves to 
stay afloat while there has been no significant Government support for the 
sector.

(1) 

Working to 
support vital 

voluntary and 
community 

organisations

Why does this matter?

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

• Increase engagement with local voluntary and community organisations through a regular 
targeted newsletter and regular contract with community leaders and use this to promote 
any new funding opportunities and scope for collaboration and more joined up working

• Increase networking opportunities for local voluntary groups to share experience, 
encourage collaboration, including physical meetings and events when this is possible 
again

• Consider introducing a community lottery to generate additional funds for local voluntary 
organisations supporting households who have fallen into poverty as a result of the 
pandemic including the Food Bank and the CAB and organisations that provide housing 
and debt advice. 

• Lobby the Government, MP and the  County Council for more financial support for local 
voluntary sector organisations delivering essential services. 

Actions to consider
(1) 

Working to 
support vital 

voluntary sector 
organisations

P
age 92

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

The unprecedented impact on the economy and jobs will continue to be felt 
long after the pandemic is over.   Unfortunately once furloughing and business 
grants come to an end, not all businesses will survive or continue at current 
staffing levels.  Significant numbers of people are likely to find themselves out 
of work for the first time in their working lives and are at risk of falling into 
debt and with that, the prospect of losing their home.

Having a meaningful job is the single most important factor in determining a 
working-age person’s life chances, including their mental and physical 
wellbeing, their ability to make a wider contribution to their community rather 
than becoming a significant financial draw on the public purse or increase the 
risk of being drawn into crime and anti social behaviour.  

Why does this matter?
(2)

Practical help for 
households falling 

into poverty

P
age 93

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

Support that the foodbanks and other key relevant voluntary sector organisations have the 
resources they need to respond to the increasing demands

Put in place a homelessness service response plan to ensue that the Council is able to 
respond effectively to increasing demand for homelessness advice and support, particularly 
when protection from eviction is removed in the new financial year.  

Work with Job Centre Plus to Support that residents who have lost their jobs have access to 
timely support to help them access the limited number of new employment opportunities 
available.  (Explore potential extension of the Skills Hub)

Secure targeted support for young people leaving local schools and colleges and entering 
the job market for the first time but as yet have no practical experience of the workplace.  
(potential Youth Hub) 

Promote re-training opportunities through NESCOT and apprenticeship and work 
experience placements with local employers. 

Continue to explore the data to identify changes in deprivation, poverty and inequality, 
including any marginalised groups that need additional help. 

(2)

Practical help for 
households falling 

into poverty

Actions to consider

P
age 94

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

As residents begin to emerge from their homes and start to engage in their 
previous activities and interests, and businesses start to re-open it will be more 
important than ever that they feel safe, secure and confident, knowing that the 
rules are being followed and enforced.

Firstly this must relate to achieving a high level of COVID-secure practice in local 
businesses, including shops, restaurants and other hospitality venues to give 
confidence to those choosing to shop locally as we begin to come out of the lock 
down.  

Secondly this needs to tackle anti social behaviour and crime in our retail, 
commercial and open spaces. For example, there have been significant increases 
in anti social behaviour in parks, drug related crime and greater cycle thefts.   This 
is in addition to the significant increase in unauthorised encampments and large 
scale fly-typping that may arise from the loss of the injunction for unauthorised 
encampments. 

(3)

Residents feeling 
safe and secure in 

rebuilding their 
lives

Why does this matter?

P
age 95

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

Hold a Crime Summit with the police and partner agencies such as Housing Associations, 
Fire Service etc. to get more people involved in keeping the borough a safe place

Promote and make full use of the significant additional police resources being put into 
neighbourhood policing

Continue to support local businesses with their compliance with Government regulations 
for Covid-secure practice and take enforcement action when necessary. 

Strengthen the Council’s approach to education and enforcement, particularly in the parks 
and open spaces.

Progress the Purple Flag status with the BID to support and promote the safe re-opening 
and on-going operation of the evening and late night economy in the Town Centre 

Utilise the new mobile CCTV Cameras 

Explore and promote the provision of diversionary activities for Youth

(3)

Residents feeling 
safe and secure in 

rebuilding their 
lives

Actions to consider

P
age 96

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

Given the impact on the economy of the pandemic, and the seismic shift to on-
line purchasing, and once business grants and furloughing arrangements end in 
the Spring, there is a risk of an unprecedented level of job losses with limited 
opportunities for re-employment.  

As well as the significant personal and social cost of unemployment, it also has 
a huge impact on the lives of other dependents in the household, on local 
public services and the public purse including, including benefits, 
homelessness etc.  

High unemployment levels including high youth unemployment is also 
associated with increases in anti social behaviour and all types of crime, 
including drugs and other serious organised crime.  

(4)

Access to jobs and 
retraining 

opportunities

Why does this matter?

P
age 97

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

Continue the  Council’s partnership with DWP/Job Centre Plus and Surrey Life Long 
Learning to explore the continuation of the Skills Hub

Explore with DWP/Job Centre Plus and Surrey Life Long Learning and NESCOT the 
creation of a Youth Hub to support young people with access to employment and 
training opportunities.

Promote work experience, job placement and apprenticeship opportunities in the 
Council and with other major employers in the borough.

Promote volunteering opportunities as valuable work experience and a stepping 
stone to paid employment opportunities.   

Help promote employment in growth industries such as the health and care sector 
which continue to experience significant vacancies.

Actions to consider(4)

Access to jobs and 
retraining 

opportunities

P
age 98

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

The Council’s Community and Wellbeing Centre, Bourne Hall, the Playhouse 
Theatre, The Rainbow Leisure Centre, Ewell Court House and Nonsuch House are 
important facilities used by a wide spectrum of the community across Epsom and 
Ewell.   They are facilities used particularly by our older population and families 
whose lives have been most disrupted by the pandemic but now also need to 
include more for working age communities temporarily displaced from their jobs.  

These buildings are an important access point for local services, a place to meet 
others in the community for community activities and events and important family 
occasions.  These buildings have an important role in reconnecting people with their 
community.  They draw people into the borough and into our high streets and 
parks. 

Key standalone services also have an important part to play in community recovery 
such as the community alarms service, meals at home service, the transport 
services, social prescribing and the promoting guided walks etc.   

Why does this matter?(5)

Re-opening local 
Council facilities 

and services used 
by the community 

P
age 99

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

Develop a re-opening plan for the Community and Wellbeing Centre, Bourne Hall, 
the Playhouse Theatre, Ewell Court House and review the efficiency of the 
operation.

Promote greater take up of wellbeing services such as the community transport 
service, social prescribing, meals at home etc.  

Work with GLL to support the re-opening of the Rainbow Leisure Centre and 
Bovingdons regarding the reopening of Nonsuch House.

Re-start the procurement for finding an operator for Ewell Court House

Support the re-opening of group exercise classes and activities in Council parks and 
consider further extension of park gyms through CIL 15%.  

Identify services for the younger residents and support the Surrey Youth Games.

Actions to consider(5)

Re-opening local 
Council facilities 

and services used 
by the community 

P
age 100

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

During the pandemic residents of all ages have had to withdraw from much of 
their usual lives in their community, socially distanced and socially isolated, 
contained in their household bubble.  

This lack of engagement has had a profound impact on mental health and 
personal resilience, and the ability for many to begin the process of rebuilding 
the important connections in their community and routines of day to day life 
that support their wellbeing. 

The Council has a role in accelerating this process by creating and promoting 
opportunities for residents to re-engage in the life of their community, from 
visiting the local shops and restaurants, social clubs, attending events, interest 
groups and exercise classes, to visiting the Theatre, Bourne Hall and the 
Community and Wellbeing Centre.  

Why does this matter?
(6)

Reconnecting 
communities, 
tackling social 
isolation and 

promoting good 
mental health

P
age 101

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

Refocus the Council’s Health and Wellbeing work on tackling social isolation, helping 
people to reconnect with their community and promoting good mental health

Work more closely with community, voluntary sector and statutory partners to 
support a more joined up approach to community.

Promote and support partners to reduce digital isolation.

Develop a new programme of community and civic events and activities that brings 
people together, promotes community cohesion, and utilises the new Market Place 
to promote the best of what the community has to offer including its diverse 
cultures and foods.  This includes the Derby, Film Festival, food markets, community 
festivals, and events through the cultural and arts sector. 

Promote the borough’s growing cultural offer including Horton Chapel when it 
opens later this year and the new boutique arts cinema in Epsom Square.  

Maximise the opportunities through social prescribing.

(6)

Reconnecting 
communities, 
tackling social 
isolation and 

promoting good 
mental health

Actions to consider

P
age 102

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



Supporting the recovery
of our local Economy

P
age 103

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

Economic 
Recovery

Promotion & 
distribution of 
business grants 

and loans

Practical advice 
and support for 
local business

An enterprising 
environment  
for new and 

growing 
businesses

Promoting local 
businesses and 

“shop local”

Encouraging 
visitors and 

increasing retail 
footfall

Securing 
infrastructure 

and investment 
that will 

support the 
local economy

Economic
Recovery

P
age 104

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

With an interruption in sales and income during the lockdown, many 
businesses could go out of business simply due to a lack of short-term cash 
flow.

It is vital that local businesses are able to access as much Government funding 
as possible to keep them afloat over this difficult period and to safeguard the 
employment of their staff. 

The Government continue to make announcements about new funding 
opportunities for business, administered by the Borough Council, with very 
little time for promotion and implementation.  The Council needs to be ready 
and have the capacity to respond effectively to these opportunities.  

Why does this matter?
Promotion & 
distribution 
of business 
grants and 

loans

P
age 105

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

• To strongly promote all new business grants and loans coming out of 
Government.

• Work with local business networks including the BID and local business leaders 
to increase the communications channels to promote the financial help that is 
available to local businesses. 

• Engage in a two way conversation to understand the difficulties now faced by 
local businesses.

Actions to consider
Promotion & 
distribution 
of business 
grants and 

loans

P
age 106

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

Independent businesses who are not part of a regional or national chain or 
franchise do not always have up to date information about how best to 
operate in a COVID-Secure way.

With business operations severely disrupted as a result of the lock down and 
with and other restrictions in place, it is even harder to reach businesses with 
the information they need about the support available.

Some business owners will be facing the overwhelming pressures of increasing 
debt and the potential loss of their business and business premises.  It is 
important that these businesses have access to good quality advice to help 
them deal as best the can with these particularly difficult circumstances. 

Why does this matter?Practical 
advice and 
support for 

local business

P
age 107

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

Actions to considerPractical 
advice and 
support for 

local business

Work with the High Streets Task Force, the Epsom BID, the Local Enterprise 
Partnership and Surrey Chambers of Commerce to Support that messages are 
aligned and information is presented in the most effective way for local 
businesses.

Support that information on COVID-Secure business operations are widely 
disseminated, including use of social media and video.

Make use of any extension in the deadline for use of the ERDF funding to fund 
information and advice for local businesses to help with their reopening. 

Consider how to make available to local businesses practical advice for those 
facing significant debt and the potential loss of their business

P
age 108

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

In the wake of closures in larger and established businesses, there will be a 
greater reliance on new and emerging businesses providing much needed 
employment and income generation.  

The Council’s community buildings, market place, and parks and recreation 
spaces provide a fantastic enterprising environment for new business to take 
off and grow.  

Promoting business and customer confidence is going to be vital during the 
recovery period.  However, this will be undermined if visually there are a 
number empty and poorly maintained shop fronts on the high street creating 
blight for the remaining and new potential businesses. 

As business continue to pull out of central London in the search of smaller, 
more flexible/affordable office accommodation and meeting spaces, it is 
important that the borough is able to put forward an attractive offer. 

Why does this matter?
An 

enterprising 
environment  
for new and 

growing 
businesses

P
age 109

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

• Promote the  Council’s market place, community buildings, recreation areas, and 
open spaces as great opportunities for developing new and emerging businesses

• Explore how to turn empty shop fronts in key locations into colourful 
promotional material about the town’s fantastic retail, leisure, restaurant and 
cultural offer. 

• Explore in partnership with others repurposing empty retail property into 
affordable and flexible office, business and meeting spaces, and other potential 
“pop-up” uses such as a skills hub or pop-up museum.  

• Support that the  borough is being promoted as a great place to relocate a 
business out of London and a great place to attract the best employee talent.  

• Closely assess the vibrancy and resilience of our high streets by monitoring foot-
fall and vacancy rates to identify areas most at risk and need of intervention

Actions to considerAn 
enterprising 
environment  
for new and 

growing 
businesses

P
age 110

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

During the pandemic the shift towards on-line shopping has accelerated, and 
given the length of the three lock-downs, residents have become accustomed 
to shopping in this way.   People have also found other ways to spend their 
leisure and social time. 

It will be therefore be difficult to attract customers back to the high street for 
their shopping, eating and leisure experiences.

What will be key is providing the highest levels of customer service, 
extraordinary visitor experience, a greater focus on the independent retailers 
offering something not easily found on-line or in other Towns, convenience, 
and a good range of opportunities on offer. 

The Market Place is an example of something that people will come out for, 
because it provides an experience and a social activity (on Sundays) not easily 
replicated by shopping on-line. 

Important to maintain the focus.

Why does this matter?
Promoting 

local 
businesses 
and “shop 

local”

P
age 111

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

• Communications campaign with the BID promoting “shop local”, and “love your 
town and high street”

• Promote the climate change benefits of shopping on your local high street

• Work with local businesses and the BID to encourage a programme of events to 
attract people back to the Town and High Streets including events in the Market 
Place. 

• A programme of expanded market activities, other activities and events in the 
Market Place to attract people into the Town Centre. 

• Work with local businesses to help maintain or improve the use of local retailers 
in Ewell, Stoneleigh etc.

Actions to consider
Promoting 

local 
businesses 
and “shop 

local”

P
age 112

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

To help promote local business confidence, it is important that there is a visible 
demonstration of investment and focus on the future through a series of high 
profile initiatives.

The borough’s long-term vision highlights the importance of promoting Epsom 
and Ewell as a creative and vibrant place with a strong cultural offer.  This is 
more important than ever in attracting back footfall and creating an 
environment where people want to work and invest in. 

There was a risk before the pandemic that the reputation of the borough as a 
safe place to visit for people of all ages was being undermined by the anti 
social behaviour that sometimes occurred, including as part of the late night 
economy in commercial the Town Centre. 

Why does this matter?
Encouraging 
visitors and 
increasing 

retail footfall

P
age 113

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

• Take forward work with the BID towards Purple Flag status for the Town Centre to 
support the evening and late night economies and to protect the borough’s reputation 
as a safe place to visit

• Work with the BID to implement the Town Wifi scheme to support increased customer 
dwell time and make the town easier to navigate and enjoy.

• Complete the installation of the Emily Davison Statue and the Derby Hall of Fame in the 
Market Place to help attract more visitors as part of the borough’s cultural offer.  

• Complete the work to the Northern High Street as the final phase of the Plan E works 
(the manufacture and supply of the bus shelters and street furniture including 
wayfinding signs which were delayed due to Covid).

• Promote the borough’s unique cultural assets/ heritage incl. Market Place, Playhouse, 
Leisure Centre, the Derby, Film Festival, Horton Chapel, and new Picturehouse cinema 

• Promote the borough’s growing restaurant and hospitality economy (which is less 
impacted by on-line shopping) and attract more high quality independents.

Actions to consider
(1) 

Keeping vital 
voluntary sector 

organisations 
afloat

Encouraging 
visitors and 
increasing 

retail footfall

P
age 114

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

Investment in the borough is a sign of confidence in a better future.

The Government, the Local Enterprise Partnership and Surrey County Council 
will be looking to invest.  It’s important that Epsom and Ewell receive it’s fair 
share of this investment including further highways, cycle schemes, public 
realm improvements.

There are some important housing developments coming forward for the Town 
Centre which could provide the opportunity for significant and much needed 
additional foot fall in support of the retail, leisure and restaurant economies.

The future of other sites, including the location of the Town Hall could also be a 
significant investment opportunity or the borough and contribute positively to 
the supply of housing.

Why does this matter?
Securing 

infrastructure 
and investment 

that will 
support the 

local economy

P
age 115

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

• Work with Surrey County  Council to help shape their transport investment 
priorities including investment in cycle infrastructure

• Develop a pipeline of future projects that could be implemented within a 
reasonable timeframe, and would have the potential to attract external funding 
including progressing the CIL 15% projects and shop front grants

• Identify opportunities for major development schemes close to the Town Centre 
and other strategic high streets that would have a positive impact on footfall 
and spend in those locations.

• Undertake master planning of the two industrial estates to identify the scale of 
the opportunity for concentration of business uses as well as residential. 

Actions to consider
Securing 

infrastructure 
and investment 

that will 
support the 

local economy

P
age 116

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



www.waverley.gov.uk

• Work with the BID and others to develop a future Vision for the Town Centre 

• Undertake new master planning of the Town Centre to inform a potential Plan E 
-2,  redefining a smaller but more concentrated retail offer,  increased residential 
development, and further improvements to the quality of the cultural offer. 

Actions to consider
Securing 

infrastructure 
and investment 

that will 
support the 

local economy

P
age 117

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 118



25

Epsom and Ewell Borough Council

Minutes of the Meeting of the STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE held on 
28 January 2021

PRESENT -

Councillor Eber Kington (Chairman); Councillor Clive Smitheram (present for items - 61-
69 only) (Vice-Chairman); Councillors Arthur Abdulin (present for Items 63-69 only), 
Steve Bridger, Kate Chinn, Nigel Collin, Hannah Dalton, David Gulland, Colin Keane 
and Barry Nash

In Attendance: Councillor Neil Dallen 

Officers present: Kathryn Beldon (Chief Executive), Damian Roberts (Chief Operating 
Officer), Amardip Healy (Chief Legal Officer), Rod Brown (Head of Housing and 
Community), Ian Dyer (Head of Operational Services), Shona Mason (Head of Human 
Resources and Organisational Development), Mark Shephard (Head of Property and 
Regeneration), Brendan Bradley (Chief Accountant), Richard Chevalier (Parking 
Manager), Sarah Keeble (Democratic Services Officer) and Tim Richardson 
(Committee Administrator)

59 QUESTION TIME 

No questions had been submitted or were asked by members of the public.

60 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations were made in items on the Agenda.

61 BOURNE HALL PARKING CHARGES FOR COMMUNITY VACCINATION 
SCHEME UPDATE 

In December 2020 the Committee agreed to delegate authority to the Head of 
Operational Services to implement a parking permit scheme for up to a 
maximum of 10 staff and volunteers in delivering the vaccination programme. A 
request has since been made for additional spaces.  

The Committee received a verbal introduction from the Head of Operational 
Services.

The following matters were raised by the Committee:

a) Parking spaces: Members spoke about the number of requested parking 
spaces. It was noted that when the Borough begins the process of coming 

Page 119

Agenda Item 6



Meeting of the Strategy and Resources Committee, 28 January 2021 26

Epsom and Ewell Borough Council

out of lockdown, the Council would look at reducing the number of parking 
permits from the proposed 40 as and when necessary. 

b) Future arrangements: Members noted the request from Surrey County 
Council to use Bourne Hall for some aspects of Covid-19 testing, and 
spoke about the increase in traffic-flow that may come as a result of this. 
Officers noted that they had spoken with representatives from both the 
proposed testing-centre and Fitzsnell Surgery to discuss parking 
arrangements, and that they felt able to facilitate both parties during 
lockdown.

Following consideration, it was resolved unanimously that the Committee:

(1) Agreed to delegate to the Head of Operational Services to implement a 
parking permit scheme at Bourne Hall Car Park for Fitznells Manor Surgery, 
as set out in paragraph 2.6 of this report.

62 EPSOM & EWELL BOROUGH COUNCIL PAY POLICY STATEMENT 

The Committee received a report introducing the draft Epsom & Ewell Borough 
Council Pay Policy Statement for 2021/2022 which seeks approval of the 
statement, prior to its presentation to full Council and subsequent publication on 
the Council website.

The Committee received a verbal introduction from the Head of Corporate 
Governance.

Following consideration, it was resolved unanimously that the Committee:

(1) Approved the draft Pay Policy Statement for 2021/2022;  

(2)  Agreed to refer the draft Pay Policy Statement 2021/2022  to Council for 
approval.

63 YOUTH HUB INITATIVE 

To request grant funding from DWP’s Flexible Support Fund to set up a Youth 
Hub in the Borough, with delivery partners, and to match fund the bid with the 
offer of a location for the Youth Hub.

The Committee received a verbal introduction from the Head of Housing.

The following matters were raised by the Committee:

a) Location: Members noted the importance of a location that is well-served 
by transport links, and not costly to commute to. Officers noted that they 
would be looking for continuous innovation within the project, and will look 
to have discussions with representatives for alternative locations for future 
schemes. Officers also highlighted that a number of potential users may 

Page 120

Agenda Item 6



Meeting of the Strategy and Resources Committee, 28 January 2021 27

Epsom and Ewell Borough Council

be unable to travel, so an element of outreach would be looked into so 
they can still be provided a service.

Councillor Barry Nash proposed an amendment to Recommendation 1, which 
was seconded by Councillor David Gulland. This amendment was to read:

Agreed that the Head of Housing and Community, in consultation with the 
Chairman of Strategy and Resources Committee, the Chairman of the 
Community and Wellbeing Community, the Chief Finance Officer, Chief 
Operating Officer and the Head of Property and Regeneration, submits an 
application to the Department for Work and Pensions to fund the 
establishment of a Youth Hub; 

From:

Agreed that the Head of Housing and Community, in consultation with the 
Chairman of Strategy and Resources Committee, the Chief Finance Officer, 
Chief Operating Officer and the Head of Property and Regeneration, submits 
an application to the Department for Work and Pensions to fund the 
establishment of a Youth Hub; 

The Committee agreed the amendment unanimously. 

Following consideration, it was resolved unanimously that the Committee:

(1) Agreed that the Head of Housing and Community, in consultation with the 
Chairman of Strategy and Resources Committee, the Chairman of the 
Community and Wellbeing Community, the Chief Finance Officer, Chief 
Operating Officer and the Head of Property and Regeneration, submits an 
application to the Department for Work and Pensions to fund the 
establishment of a Youth Hub; 

(2) Agreed that the Council enters into an arrangement with delivery partners to 
deliver this initiative.

64 PLANNED MAINTENANCE PROGRAMME 2021-22 

The Committee received a report providing an update on the approved 2020-
2021 planned maintenance programme and requesting approval for the planned 
maintenance programme for the next financial year 2021-2022.

The Committee received a verbal introduction from the Head of Property and 
Regeneration. 

The following matters were raised by the Committee:

a) Expenditure: Following a question from Members, the Officer clarified 
that the items and expenditures listed in Appendix 2 of the report were 
estimations based on past expenditures of what would be spent in an 
average year.

Page 121

Agenda Item 6



Meeting of the Strategy and Resources Committee, 28 January 2021 28

Epsom and Ewell Borough Council

b) Estimations: Members noted the two variants in budget estimations. The 
Officer noted that the 150% over-budget came as a result of additional 
items that were added in. Members commended the Head of Property and 
Regeneration for coming in under-budget. 

Following consideration, it was resolved unanimously that the Committee:

(1) Agreed to note the progress and anticipated spend at the end of the current 
year 2020/21;

(2) Agreed to transfer the £68,000 projected underspend on 2020/21’s 
programme back to the Planned Maintenance Reserve for use in 2021/22;

(3) Approved the 2021/22 planned maintenance programme at an estimated cost 
of £315,000 as set out in Appendix 2;

(4) Agreed to delegate authority to the Head of Property and Regeneration to 
make changes within the 2021/22 planned maintenance programme to cover 
unforeseen matters (such as tender price variances) of up to, but not 
exceeding £20,000; subject to the Council’s financial and contract 
requirements.

65 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 

The Committee received a report summarising the proposed 2021/22 capital 
programme. The Committee’s approval is sought for the programme to be 
submitted to Council in February 2021.

The following matters were raised by the Committee:

a) Outcome: Following a question from a Member, the Officer clarified that 
they would be purchasing a package designed to fit with the software that 
Revenues and Benefits already have.

Following consideration, it was resolved with 7 Members voting for, 2 
abstentions, and the Chairman not voting that the Committee:

(1) Agreed to submit the capital programme for 2021/22 as identified in section 
4 of this report to the Council for approval on 16 February 2021.

66 2021/22 REVENUE BUDGET AND FEES & CHARGES 

The Committee received a report setting out estimates for income and 
expenditure on services in 2021/22.

The Committee received a verbal introduction from the Chief Accountant.

The following matters were raised by the Committee:

a) Homelessness: Following a question from a Member, the Officer noted 
that as a result of the Coronavirus Pandemic, homelessness cases in the 

Page 122

Agenda Item 6



Meeting of the Strategy and Resources Committee, 28 January 2021 29

Epsom and Ewell Borough Council

Borough have increased. It was noted that the Council holds a reserve to 
help manage homelessness, and that the Flexible Housing Support Grant 
is the most appropriate funding source for increased housing services.

A Member of the Committee requested that Recommendation 2 to be taken 
separately.  

Following consideration, it was resolved unanimously that the Committee:

(1) Agreed to recommend the 2021/22 service estimates for approval at the 
budget meeting of Full Council in February 2021;

(2) Agreed to support that any remaining budget gap for 2021/22 - after 
factoring in those savings agreed at recommendation 2 and savings agreed 
at other Policy Committees – should be funded from the Corporate Projects 
Reserve and Flexible Housing Support Grant, as set-out in section 3;

(3) Agreed to recommend the 2021/22 fees and charges, as set-out in Appendix 
1, for approval at the budget meeting of Full Council in February 2021.

Following consideration, it was resolved with 6 Members voting for, 1 Member 
voting against, 1 abstention and the Chairman not voting that:

(4) Agreed to confirm the savings options set-out in section 6 for inclusion in 
the 2021/22 and 2022/23 budget estimates, to mitigate the council’s 
projected budget gap;

67 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

The Minutes of the previous Meeting of the Committee held on 17 November 
2020 and the Restricted Minutes of the Special Meeting held on 22 December 
2020 and the Minutes of the Special Meeting held on 22 December 2020 were 
agreed as a true record and the Committee authorised the Chairman to sign 
them.

68 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

Under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the Committee 
passed a resolution to exclude the public from the meeting for Part Two of the 
Agenda on the grounds that the business involved the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act (as 
amended) and that pursuant to paragraph 10 of Part 2 of the said Schedule 12A 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing the information.

69 COMMERCIAL TENANTS UPDATE 

The decision for this item is recorded in a separate (not for publication) restricted 
Decision Notice.

The meeting began at 7.00 pm and ended at 8.35 pm

Page 123

Agenda Item 6



Meeting of the Strategy and Resources Committee, 28 January 2021 30

Epsom and Ewell Borough Council

COUNCILLOR EBER KINGTON (CHAIRMAN)

Page 124

Agenda Item 6



Document is Restricted

Page 125

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
to the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Local Government Reorganisation & Collaboration in Surrey
	LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION & COLLABORATION IN SURREY Appendix 1
	LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION & COLLABORATION IN SURREY Appendix 2

	4 Epsom & Ewell Draft Covid 19 Recovery Plan
	Epsom & Ewell Draft Covid 19 Recovery Plan Appendix 1

	6 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	Restricted Minutes Public Pack, 28/01/2021 Strategy and Resources Committee


